Eric W Djimeu Eleanor G Dickens	<b>Treatment as prevention</b> A replication study on early antiretroviral therapy initiation and HIV-1 transmission June 2020
Replication Paper 24	Health



#### About 3ie

The International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie) promotes evidence-informed equitable, inclusive and sustainable development. We support the generation and effective use of high-quality evidence to inform decision-making and improve the lives of people living in poverty in low- and middle-income countries. We provide guidance and support to produce, synthesise and quality-assure evidence of what works, for whom, how, why and at what cost.

#### **3ie Replication Paper Series**

The 3ie Replication Paper Series is designed to be a publication and dissemination outlet for internal replication studies of development impact evaluations. Internal replication studies are those that reanalyse the data from an original paper in order to validate the results. The series seeks to publish replication studies with findings that reinforce or challenge the results of an original paper. To be eligible for submission, a replication study needs to be of a paper in 3ie's online Development Evidence Portal and needs to include a pure replication. 3ie invites formal replies from the original authors. These are published on the 3ie website together with the replication study.

#### About this report

3ie receives funds for Replication Window 3 from The Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation. All content is the sole responsibility of the authors and does not represent the opinions of 3ie, its donors or the 3ie Board of Commissioners. Any errors and omissions are the sole responsibility of the authors. Please direct any comments or queries to the corresponding author, Eric W Djimeu at eric.djimeu@gmail.com.

Suggested citation: Djimeu, EW and Dickens, EG, 2020. *Treatment as prevention: a replication study on early antiretroviral therapy initiation and HIV-1 transmission*, 3ie Replication Paper 24. Washington, DC: International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie). Available at: https://doi.org/10.23846/RPS0024

3ie Replication Paper Series executive editor: Marie Gaarder Managing editor: Marie-Eve G. Augier Production manager: Anushruti Ganguly Assistant production manager: Akarsh Gupta Cover design: Akarsh Gupta

© International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie), 2020

# Treatment as prevention: a replication study on early antiretroviral therapy initiation and HIV-1 transmission

Eric W Djimeu

Centre for Studies and Research in Economics and Management (CEREG), University of Yaoundé II

Eleanor G Dickens School of Advanced International Studies (SAIS), Johns Hopkins University

**Replication Paper 24** 

June 2020



# Acknowledgments

This work was funded under the 3ie Replication Programme.

We are grateful to the original authors, and in particular to Dr Myron S Cohen and Dr Ying Q Chen, for sharing with us the data used for this replication. We thank Dr Anna Heard for co-drafting the replication plan for this study.

## Summary

Early antiretroviral therapy (ART) of an HIV-1-infected individual has been shown to lower the risk of transmitting HIV to his or her uninfected partner, as first shown in the study known as HPTN052 published by Cohen and colleagues (2011). It had been common practice to delay ART until an individual's CD4 count fell below a specific level; however, based on the HPTN052 study and other studies, the World Health Organization recommended that anyone infected with HIV-1 should begin ART as soon after diagnosis as possible.

This paper presents a replication study of the HPTN052 study by Cohen and colleagues using the data shared by the original authors. First, applying the methods described in the original paper, we conducted a pure replication. We were able to replicate most of the tables and the shape of the figures included in the original paper. However, we found a major difference in the number of observations (i.e. participants) used to create the figures that display the main results of the paper (Figures 2A–2D in the original paper).

However, this major difference does not change the conclusions of the original paper. We also found minor differences elsewhere, mostly in Table 2 of the original paper. The discrepancies found between the replication and the original study are due to the breakdown of hazard ratios (and associated confidence intervals) by periods of followup; while the total numbers are the same, the breakdown of participants between year intervals differs.

We note that these minor differences between our pure replication and the original paper results did not change the statistical significance of these findings, which for the most part were not statistically significant in the original paper. As in the original paper, our replication shows a relative reduction of 96 per cent in the number of linked HIV-1 transmissions resulting from early initiation of ART, as compared with delayed therapy.

In the subsequent measurement and estimation analyses, we divided the total number of participants into two subgroups: participants from African nations only and participants from non-African nations only. We found that early initiation of ART still reduced rates of sexual transmission of HIV-1 and clinical events when considering the participants from the African nations only. However, due to the lack of statistical power given the reduced sample size, there are no conclusive results for the subgroup of participants from non-African nations only.

When clustering the standard errors by site, we find the same effect size for hazard ratios for multiple outcomes. However, the confidence intervals are narrower, showing that the statistical significance of the estimates is improved. We were not able to control for male circumcision because the original authors declined to share the data of male circumcision with us.

Similarly, we were unable to study the relationship between ART adherence and the impact of early initiation of ART, given that the original authors also declined to share the relevant data. Finally, we assess the Cox proportional hazards assumption in two ways: examining time-dependent covariates and using Schoenfeld residuals. We found that the Cox proportional hazards assumption is met for all outcomes and the covariates used in the analyses.

This study and recent studies rigorously test the impact of early initiation of ART, showing it to be effective in reducing HIV-1 transmission in trial studies. Other recent studies show the limited effectiveness of universal testing and treatment due to poor linkage to care. Therefore, we suggest that future research on early initiation of ART should test how to improve the linkage to care for HIV-1-infected patients.

# Contents

Acknowledgments	i
Summary	ii
Contents	iv
List of figures and tables	v
Abbreviations and acronyms	1
1. Introduction	2
2. The pure replication	3
2.1 The data	3
2.2 Statistical methods	6
2.3 Pure replication results	6
2.4 Pure replication conclusions	17
3. Measurement and estimation analysis	17
3.1 Differences by region (African or non-African)	18
3.2 Clustering	27
3.3 Circumcision	29
3.4 Prior HIV treatment through PMTCT	29
3.5 Cox proportional hazards assumption	33
3.6 Understanding how the intervention works	
4. Discussion and conclusion	39
4.1 Discussion	
4.2 Conclusion	40
References	42

# List of figures and tables

Figure 1: Kaplan–Meier estimates for partner-linked and any HIV-1 transmission and for clinical and composite events
Figure 2: Kaplan–Meier estimates for partner-linked and any HIV-1 transmission and for clinical and composite events (African nations only) 22
Figure 3: Kaplan–Meier estimates for partner-linked and any HIV-1 transmission and for clinical and composite events (non-African nations only)
Figure 4: Kaplan–Meier estimates for partner-linked and any HIV-1 transmission and for clinical and composite events (subgroup with no prior ART use for PMTCT)32
Table 1: Detailed presentation of different variables used for the pure replication
Table 2. Baseline characteristics of the participants
composite events
Table 4: Hazard ratios for prognostic factors for partner-linked and any HIV-1
transmission and for clinical and composite events
Table 5: Incidence of partner-linked and any HIV-1 transmission and clinical and
Table 6: Incidence of partner-linked and any HIV-1 transmission and clinical and
composite events (non-African nations only)
Table 7: Hazard ratios for prognostic factors for partner-linked transmission, any HIV-1
transmission, clinical events and composite events (clustering)
Table 8: Incidence of partner-linked and any HIV-1 transmission and clinical and
composite events (sample with no prior ART use for PMTCT)
Table 9: Testing the assumptions of the Cox proportional hazards model
Table 10: Testing the assumptions of the Cox proportional hazards model: linked
transmission
Table 11: Testing the assumptions of the Cox proportional hazards model: any
Table 12: Testing the assumptions of the Cox proportional bazards model: clinical events
Table 12. Testing the assumptions of the Cox proportional hazards model. Clinical events
Table 13: Testing the assumptions of the Cox proportional hazards model: composite
events

# Abbreviations and acronyms

ART	Antiretroviral therapy
MEA	Measurement and estimation analysis
PMTCT	Prevention of mother-to-child transmission
WHO	World Health Organization

# 1. Introduction

Since September 2015, the World Health Organization (WHO) has recommended that anyone infected with HIV should begin antiretroviral therapy (ART) as soon after diagnosis as possible. With its 'treatment-as-prevention' recommendation, WHO removed all limitations on eligibility for ART among people living with HIV, such that all populations and age groups are now eligible for immediate treatment.

Previously, the WHO recommendation was to initiate ART once an individual's CD4 cell count dropped below a certain level. A person's CD4 cell count corresponds to a number of cells per cubic millimetre, with sicker individuals having lower counts. The WHO-specified threshold CD4 cell count for ART initiation in lower-resource countries increased from 200 in 2006 to 350 in 2010, and to 500 in 2013. These changes were supported by the results of several randomised controlled trials that showed improved health outcomes with earlier treatment (Severe et al. 2010; INSIGHT START Study Group 2015; TEMPRANO ANRS Study Group 2015).

At the same time, a study known as HPTN052 was undertaken by Cohen and colleagues (2011) which aimed to assess whether, in addition to benefiting the patient, early initiation of ART could lower the risk of an HIV-1-infected individual transmitting HIV-1 to his or her uninfected partner. Cohen and colleagues (2011) enrolled 1,763 HIV-1 serodiscordant (one partner is HIV-1-infected and the other is HIV-1-uninfected) couples at 13 sites in 9 countries (Gaborone, Botswana; Kisumu, Kenya; Lilongwe and Blantyre, Malawi; Johannesburg and Soweto, South Africa; Harare, Zimbabwe; Rio de Janeiro and Porto Alegre, Brazil; Pune and Chennai, India; Chiang Mai, Thailand; and Boston, USA).

Enrolment took place from June 2007 to May 2010. Patients with HIV-1 infection were eligible if their CD4 count was between 350 and 550; they were in a stable sexual relationship with their partner; and they had received no previous ART, except for short-term prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1.

After enrolment, HIV-1 serodiscordant couples were randomly assigned, in a 1:1 ratio, to receive ART immediately (early therapy group, n = 886), or to receive it after a decline in CD4 count (two consecutive measurements of 250 or less) or the development of an illness related to AIDS (delayed therapy group, n = 877). The primary prevention endpoint was genetically linked HIV-1 transmission in HIV-1-uninfected partners. The primary clinical endpoint was the earliest occurrence of pulmonary tuberculosis, severe bacterial infection, a WHO stage 4 event, or death. Cohen and colleagues (2011), through an individual randomisation trial, determined the impact of early therapy on the primary prevention endpoint and the primary clinical endpoint.

The authors find that early initiation of ART reduced sexual transmission of HIV-1 among HIV-1-uninfected partners. Specifically, the authors find that 39 HIV-1 transmissions occurred since enrolment. Of these, 28 transmissions were biologically linked to the HIV-infected partners. Of the 28 linked transmissions, only one occurred in the early therapy group. This difference represents a relative reduction of 96 per cent due to early initiation of ART (p < 0.001).

Furthermore, the authors find that for the serious HIV-1-related clinical events (i.e. a WHO stage 4 event, severe bacterial infection or pulmonary tuberculosis, or death)

observed in the HIV-1-infected partners, 40 were in the early therapy group and 65 in the delayed therapy group (hazard ratio 0.59; 95% confidence interval [CI], 0.40 to 0.88; p = 0.01). Finally, the authors find that 246 HIV-1-infected participants had one or more severe or life-threatening adverse events (grade 3 or 4), representing 14 per cent in the early therapy group and 14 per cent in the delayed therapy group (p = 0.64). The most frequently reported adverse events included infections, psychiatric and nervous system disorders, metabolism and nutrition disorders, and gastrointestinal disorders.

The study was halted prematurely due to overwhelming evidence indicating that early ART was associated with a 96 per cent lower risk to linked HIV-1 transmissions. It was the first study to suggest that HIV treatment could prevent transmission and serve as a prevention method. Since carefully implemented clinical trials in a controlled research environment may not reflect what would happen in a real-world setting, several studies have been initiated to test the treatment as a prevention approach at the population level (Hayes et al. 2017; Iwuji et al. 2018; Amanyire et al. 2016). As such, HPTN052 was a seminal study in suggesting that treatment is prevention and was the basis on which additional studies were designed.

The influence of the HPTN052 study and the magnitude of effort required to scale up universal access to ART underscore the importance of carefully reviewing, understanding and verifying the study results. Therefore, in this paper we use the data from the original authors to replicate the methods used and to produce the results presented in the original paper. We present the pure replication as the first part of the replication of the study of Cohen and colleagues (2011). Specifically, we present the data used, the methods used by the original authors as well as to conduct the pure replication, and the results of the pure replication.

# 2. The pure replication

In this section, we used the data provided by the original authors and methods described in the original paper to reproduce the results presented in the original paper. We first present the data received from the original authors, then the methods used to conduct the pure replication, and finally the results of the pure replication.

#### 2.1 The data

The data used to conduct this replication were provided by Cohen and colleagues (2011) at the end of 2018, after several requests dating back to 2015. We received four datasets from the original authors: *HIVanadat\_new.dta*, *index.dta*, *othanadat\_new.dta* and *partner.dta*. We constructed all variables required for the replication by using data obtained from the original authors using the methods specified in the original paper. The data provided by the original authors were obtained in SAS® format and converted to Stata® version 15.1, which we used to conduct the pure replication.

The dataset *index.dta* contains the data used for analysis of baseline characteristics of HIV-1-infected participants. It contains information about 1,763 individuals including demographic (age, sex, sexual activity and region) and clinical data (plasma RNA viral load and type of serodiscordancy). We should note that *index.dta* contains two variables for sex: PMDsex and IDMsex, the latter of which reproduces the numbers in the original

table for demographic information on sex. We used this dataset for the reproduction of the findings for HIV-1-infected participants in the original Table 1 (our Table 2).

The dataset *partner.dta* contains similar baseline demographic data as *index.dta*, but for 1,775 HIV-1-uninfected participants. The dataset *partner.dta* obviously does not have clinical data, as these variables do not apply to individuals who are uninfected with HIV-1. However, we must note that *partner.dta* does not reproduce the original numbers for sex; we had to use *HIVanadat\_new* (described below) and the variable PMDsex to reproduce the variable for sex for HIV-1-uninfected participants.

It is unclear in the materials provided by Cohen and colleagues what the difference is between PMDsex and IDMsex. We used this dataset for the reproduction of the findings for HIV-1-uninfected participants in the original Table 1 (our Table 2).

The dataset *othanadat\_new.dta* contains other information for the 1,763 HIV-1-infected individuals, including variables such as the site ID, ID, the randomisation arm (treatment or control), biological sex and CD4 absolute count. This dataset contains survival time data wherein the failure variables are those with 'event' in the name, the duration variables are those with 'dura' in the name, and the exit dates are those with '\_dt' in the name. We used this dataset as survival time data to reproduce Tables 2 and 3 and Figure 2 from the original paper (our Tables 3 and 4 and Figure 1), specifically for the analysis of clinical events and composite events.

*HIVanadat\_new.dta* contains other information for the 1,775 HIV-1-uninfected participants, including variables such as the site ID, ID, the randomisation arm (treatment or control), biological sex and CD4 absolute count. This dataset contains survival time data wherein the failure variables are those with 'event' in the name, the duration variables are those with 'dura' in the name, and the exit dates are those with '\_dt' in the name.

We also used this dataset as survival time data to reproduce Tables 2 and 3 and Figure 2 from the original paper (our Tables 3 and 4 and Figure 1), specifically for the analysis of linked transmission and any transmission of HIV-1. Our Table 1 presents the full details of the variables used in this paper.

	Variable				Variable		
Dataset	name	Description	Ν	Dataset	name	Description	Ν
index.dta.	: HIV-1-infecte	d participants		partner.dt	a: HIV-1-unin	fected participants	
Used for a	the original Ta	ble 1 (our Table 2)		Used for t	he original Ta	ble 1 (our Table 2)	
	iid	ID number	1,763		iid	ID number	1,775
	site	Site ID	1,763		site	Site ID	1,775
	sitename	Site name	1,763		sitename	Site name	1,775
	randarm	Randomisation arm	1,763		IDMsex	Biological sex	1,775
	IDMsex	Biological sex	1,763		age	Age at enrolment	1,775
	age	Age at enrolment	1,763		randarm	Randomisation arm	1,775
	edstat	Education level	1,762		edstat	Education level	1,774
	marstat	Marital status	1,763		marstat	Marital status	1,775
	region	Region	1,763		region	Region	1,775
		Condom use in the past	. =			Condom use in the	
	cduse	week	1,762		cduse	past week	1,774
	nncat	the past 3 months	1 762		nncat	in the past 3 months	1 774
	прсаг	the past 5 months	1,702		проаг	No. of sexual	1,774
		No. of sexual encounters				encounters in past	
	nsacat	in past week	1,762		nsacat	week	1,774
	IEVcd4cl	CD4 absolute count	1,752				
	rnacatt	Plasma RNA viral load	1,756				
	IENIortot	Previous ART use	810				
			1 762				
othanada	part_type	/-1-infected participants	1,763	HIVanada	t new dta: Hi	V-1-uninfected participants	
Used for t	the original Ta	bles 2 and 3 and Figure 2		Used for t	he original Ta	bles 2 and 3 and Figure 2 (	'our
(our Table	es 3 and 4 and	Figure 1)		Tables 3 a	and 4 and Fig	ure 1)	
	iid	ID number	1,763		iid	ID number	1,775
	site	Site ID	1,763		site	Site ID	1,775
		Randomisation in				Randomisation in	
	randarm	envelope	1,763		randarm	envelope	1,775
	comp_dt	Date of composite event	1,756		hivstat	HIV transmission Date of HIV	1,722
	compevent	Composite event	1,763		hiv_dt	transmission Duration to HIV	1,722
	rx_dt	Date of clinical event	1,754		dura_hiv	transmission Linked HIV	1,718
	rxevent	Clinical event	1,763		linkhiv	transmission	1,722
	death_dt	Date of death	1,754		ifvcd4cl	CD4 absolute count	1,764
	death	Death event	1,763		ifvicdt	Initial collection date	1,774
	dura_rx	Duration to clinical event	1,753		ifvrna	PCR/plasma	1,768
	dura_comp	event	1,756		part_type	serodiscordancy	1,775
	dura death	Duration to death	1,754		log10rna	Baseline viral load	1,768
	– linkcomp	Linked HIV transmission	1 763		cduse	Baseline condom use	1 774
	milloonip		1,100		Gudoo	Biological sex, for original Table 1 (our	.,
	log10rna	Baseline viral load	1,756		PDMsex	Table 2) Biological sex, for original Tables 2 and 3	1,775
	cduse	Baseline condom use	1,762		IDMsex	(our Tables 3 and 4)	1,775
	IDMsex	Biological sex	1,763		cd4	Baseline CD4 count	1,764
	cd4	Baseline CD4 count	1.752				

### Table 1: Detailed presentation of different variables used for the pure replication

Source: Authors' construction using the data from the original authors.

#### 2.2 Statistical methods

We followed the statistical methods used in Cohen and colleagues (2011) to conduct the pure replication. Specifically, in order to conduct the primary analysis to determine the impact of early therapy on the primary prevention endpoint (as in the original study), we used the Kaplan–Meier method to calculate event-free probabilities and person-year analysis for incidence rate for a given year.

We also used the Cox regression to estimate relative risks (expressed as hazard ratios and 95% confidence intervals) and adjustment for potential prognostic factors, such as the HIV-1-infected participant's baseline CD4 count, baseline plasma HIV-1 RNA concentration and sex.

The same Cox analyses were performed for outcomes of linked transmissions (HIV transmissions that were genetically proven to have come from the partner), any transmissions (any new HIV-1 infection, from primary partner or other), clinical events and composite events. The original authors used chi-square tests to compare the frequencies of adverse events. A p-value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### 2.3 Pure replication results

#### 2.3.1 Original Table 1: Baseline characteristics of the participants

We were able to replicate Table 1 of the original paper presenting the baseline characteristics of the patients. Specifically, our Table 2 shows that the replication results for the demographic and clinical characteristics of patients are identical to those presented in the original, with only one exception. In our pure replication, we found that the number of observations of participants with plasma 100,001 to 1 million copies per millilitre is 182, whereas this number was 186 in the original paper.

Aside from this difference, our baseline results are identical to those presented in the original paper. In addition, the baseline characteristics of the patients are balanced between the two study arms (the early therapy group and the delayed therapy group), confirming the original results.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although balance tests were not presented in the original paper, we conducted balance tests for all baseline characteristics presented in our Table 2. We used a t-test for continuous variables and the Pearson chi-square test for categorical variables. All the baseline characteristics are perfectly balanced, except for education (p = 0.04 for HIV-1-infected participants and p = 0.07 for HIV-1-uninfected participants).

# Table 2: Baseline characteristics of the participants

	HIV-1-infected	participants			HIV-1-uninfecte	d participants		
	Original early therapy (n = 886)	Replication early therapy (n = 886)	Original delayed therapy (n = 877)	Replication delayed therapy (n = 877)	Original early therapy (n = 893)	Replication early therapy (n = 893)	Original delayed therapy (n = 882)	Replication delayed therapy (n = 882)
Demographic								
Female sex – no. (%)	432 (49)	432 (49)	441 (50)	441 (50)	441 (49)	441 (49)	418 (47)	418 (47)
Age group – no. (%)								
18–25 years	145 (16)	145 (16)	161 (18)	161 (18)	154 (17)	154 (17)	174 (20)	174 (20)
26–40 years	556 (63)	556 (63)	547 (62)	547 (62)	537 (60)	537 (60)	526 (60)	526 (60)
> 40 years	185 (21)	185 (21)	169 (19)	169 (19)	202 (23)	202 (23)	182 (21)	182 (21)
Education level – no. (%)								
No schooling	101 (11)	101 (11)	69 (8)	69 (8)	112 (13)	112 (13)	77 (9)	77 (9)
Primary schooling	360 (41)	360 (41)	347 (40)	347 (40)	317 (35)	317 (35)	344 (39)	344 (39)
Secondary schooling	346 (39)	346 (39)	388 (44)	388 (44)	373 (42)	373 (42)	367 (42)	367 (42)
Post-secondary schooling	79 (9)	79 (9)	72 (8)	72 (8)	91 (10)	91 (10)	93 (11)	93 (11)
Missing data	0	0	1 (< 1)	1 (< 1)	0	0	1 (< 1)	1 (< 1)
Marital status – no. (%)								
Single	49 (6)	49 (6)	38 (4)	38 (4)	53 (6)	53 (6)	43 (5)	43 (5)
Married or living with partner	833 (94)	833 (94)	833 (95)	833 (95)	834 (93)	834 (93)	833 (94)	833 (94)
Widowed, separated or divorced	4 (< 1)	4 (< 1)	6 (1)	6 (1)	6 (1)	6 (1)	6 (1)	6 (1)
Region – no. (%)								
North or South America	142 (16)	142 (16)	136 (16)	136 (16)	145 (16)	145 (16)	139 (16)	139 (16)
Asia	267 (30)	267 (30)	264 (30)	264 (30)	268 (30)	268 (30)	264 (30)	264 (30)
Africa	477 (54)	477 (54)	477 (54)	477 (54)	480 (54)	480 (54)	479 (54)	479 (54)
Sexual activity – no. (%)	. ,	× ,	. ,	, ,			. ,	
Any unprotected sex in past week	37 (4)	37 (4)	51 (6)	51 (6)	49 (5)	49 (5)	53 (6)	53 (6)
0–1	831 (94)	831 (94)	833 (95)	833 (95)	863 (97)	863 (97)	844 (96)	844 (96)
2-4	48 (5)	48 (5)	41 (5)	41 (5)	29 (3)	29 (3)	36 (4)	36 (4)
> 4	7 (1)	7 (1)	2 (< 1)	2 (< 1)	1 (< 1)	1 (< 1)	1 (< 1)	1 (< 1)
Missing data	0	0	1 (< 1)	1 (< 1)	0	0	1 (< 1)	1 (< 1)
No. of sexual encounters in past week								
0	246 (28)	246 (28)	225 (26)	225 (26)	253 (28)	253 (28)	240 (27)	240 (27)
1–2	430 (49)	430 (49)	438 (50)	438 (50)	410 (46)	410 (46)	433 (49)	433 (49)
3–4	156 (18)	156 (18)	158 (18)	158 (18)	180 (20)	180 (20)	151 (17)	151 (17)
> 4	54 (6)	54 (6)	55 (6)	55 (6)	50 (6)	50 (6)	57 (6)	57 (6)

		HIV-1-infected	participants			HIV-1-uninfecte	d participants		
		Original early therapy (n = 886)	Replication early therapy (n = 886)	Original delayed therapy (n = 877)	Replication delayed therapy (n = 877)	Original early therapy (n = 893)	Replication early therapy (n = 893)	Original delayed therapy (n = 882)	Replication delayed therapy (n = 882)
	Missing data	0	0	1 (< 1)	1 (< 1)	0	0	1 (< 1)	1 (< 1)
Clinical									
CD4 count	t – no./mm^3								
	Median	442	442	428	428				
	Interquartile range	373–522	373–522	357–522	357–522	NA	NA	NA	NA
Plasma Rl	NA viral load – no. (%)								
	< 400 copies/ml	54 (6)	54 (6)	43 (5)	43 (5)	NA	NA	NA	NA
	400–1,000 copies/ml	24 (3)	24 (3)	33 (4)	33 (4)	NA	NA	NA	NA
	1,001–10,000 copies/ml	212 (24)	212 (24)	183 (21)	183 (21)	NA	NA	NA	NA
	10,001–100,000 copies/ml	407 (46)	407 (46)	432 (49)	432 (49)	NA	NA	NA	NA
	100,001–1 million copies/ml	186 (21)	186 (21)	186 (21)	182 (21)	NA	NA	NA	NA
	Missing data	3 (< 1)	3 (< 1)	4 (< 1)	4 (< 1)	NA	NA	NA	NA
Women re	porting previous antiretroviral therapy								
during pre	gnancy – no./total no (%)	115/432 (27)	115/432 (27)	119/441 (27)	119/441 (27)	NA	NA	NA	NA
Type of se	rodiscordancy – no. (%)								
	HIV-positive man, HIV-negative	100 (10)	100 (10)						
	woman HIV-positive woman, HIV-negative	436 (49)	436 (49)	417 (48)	417 (48)	NA	NA	NA	NA
	man	431 (49)	431 (49)	441 (50)	441 (50)	NA	NA	NA	NA
	HIV-positive man, HIV-negative man	18 (2)	18 (2)	19 (2)	19 (2)	NA	NA	NA	NA
	HIV-positive woman, HIV-negative								
	woman	1 (< 1)	1 (< 1)	0	0	NA	NA	NA	NA

Note: We shade results from the replication study to indicate discrepancies we detected between the original results and results from the re-analysis. Source: Authors' construction using the data from the original authors.

# 2.3.2 Original Table 2: Incidence of partner-linked HIV-1 transmission, any HIV-1 transmission, clinical events and composite events

Our Table 3 presents the incidence of partner-linked HIV-1 transmission, any HIV-1 transmission, clinical events and composite events. As in the original results, our replication found that 28 transmissions were linked to the HIV-1-infected partner, with 1 transmission in the early therapy group (incidence rate 0.1 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 0.0 to 0.4) and 27 transmissions in the delayed therapy group (incidence rate 1.7 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 1.2 to 2.5), with a hazard ratio of 0.04 (95% CI, 0.01 to 0.27; p < 0.001). Thus, this pure replication result is identical to the main finding of the original paper, which found a relative reduction of 96 per cent in the number of linked HIV-1 transmissions resulting from early initiation of ART as compared with delayed therapy.

Moreover, as in the original paper, we analyse the impact of early ART initiation by the duration of the follow-up period. We found that for the 28 transmissions linked to the HIV-1-infected participant, in the early therapy group 1 transmission (incidence rate, 0.1 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 0.0 to 0.8) occurred among participants with a period of follow-up of 1 year; 0 transmissions (incidence rate, 0.0 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 0.0 to 0.0) occurred among participants with a period of follow-up of between 2 and 3 years; and 0 transmissions (incidence rate, 0.0 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 0.0 to 0.0) occurred among participants with a period of follow-up of setures and 3 years; and 0 transmissions (incidence rate, 0.0 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 0.0 to 0.0) occurred among participants with a period of follow-up of more than 3 years.

The number of transmissions by duration of the period of follow-up we found is identical to the number of transmissions found in the original paper. However, although the rates of transmission events are identical to those found in the original paper, the confidence intervals are different for participants with a period of follow-up of between 2 and 3 years, and participants with a period of follow-up of more than 3 years, as shown in our Table 3.

Stata® is not able to calculate the confidence interval when the number of transmission events is equal to zero. In fact, the confidence intervals cannot be obtained from the formula of the confidence interval of the incidence rate when the number of transmission events is equal to zero.<sup>2</sup> Thus, it is not clear how the original authors obtained the confidence interval presented in the original paper.

Furthermore, in the delayed therapy group, we found that the number of transmissions by the duration of period of follow-up is identical to the original results. However, although the rates of transmission events are also identical for different periods of duration of follow-up, our confidence intervals for participants with a period of follow-up of more than three years is different from the one found in the original study.

This difference, which qualifies as a major difference,<sup>3</sup> might be due to the way in which the confidence interval was calculated, as the original authors used SAS® software. With the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The 100(1- $\alpha$ )% confidence interval of the incidence ratio is defined as:

 $<sup>\</sup>left(e^{\ln r-z_1-\frac{\alpha SE}{2}}, e^{\ln r+z_1-\frac{\alpha SE}{2}}\right)$  where **1-** $\alpha$  is the two-sided confidence level; **a** is the number of clinical

events; **N** is the person-time at risk; r is the incidence rate; and SE is the standard error.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> To the best of our knowledge, there is no standard definition for what constitutes a major or minor difference in replication. In this study, we classify a difference as major when the significance level of a coefficient changes or when the difference in effect size between the original results and the replication results is greater than 10 per cent.

formula presented in footnote 2, we obtained the replicated confidence interval obtained with Stata®. Finally, for the hazard ratio of follow-up of more than three years, we find a major difference between the original results and the results from the pure replication.

To conclude, for the pure replication of the 28 linked HIV-1 transmissions, we were not able to replicate the confidence interval of the rate of transmission events for participants with a period of follow-up of more than three years. This is because Stata® is not able to calculate the confidence interval when the number of transmission events is equal to zero. We find wider confidence intervals of the transmission rate and the hazard ratio for linked transmissions among participants with a period of follow-up of less than three years, compared to those found in the original paper results. However, these differences do not change one of the main results of the paper.

In our pure replication, we found that the hazard ratio in the early therapy group was 0.04. As in the original paper, we found a relative reduction of 96 per cent in the number of linked HIV-1 transmissions resulting from early initiation of ART, as compared with delayed therapy. Therefore, the wider confidence interval we found for the hazard ratio of participants with a follow-up of more than three years does not change the significance of the original paper result. As in the original paper, we found that early therapy has no impact on linked HIV-1 transmissions for participants with a period of follow-up of more than three years.

The results from the pure replication of the outcome of any transmissions of HIV-1 mirror those found for the linked transmissions. Specifically, for the early therapy group, as the number of transmission events is equal to zero for participants with a period of follow-up of more than three years, Stata® is not able to calculate the corresponding confidence interval.

For the delayed therapy group, we found a wider interval confidence for participants with a period of follow-up of more than three years. These differences do not change the results found in the original paper. As in the original paper, we found that for any HIV-1 transmissions, the hazard ratio in the early therapy group was 0.11. This represents a relative reduction of 89 per cent in the number of any HIV-1 transmissions resulting from early initiation of ART, as compared with delayed therapy.

In our Table 3, we also present the results of the pure replication for the effect of early therapy on clinical events.<sup>4</sup> For the early therapy group, we found a few differences. First, the number of clinical events for participants with a period of follow-up of between 2 and 3 years, and participants with a period of follow-up of more than 3 years, obtained in our pure replication is slightly different to those presented in the original paper results.

We found 28 clinical events after 1 year and 10 clinical events after 2–3 years, whereas the original authors found 29 and 9, respectively. This might be due to a difference in the classification of one participant. Consequently, the total number of person-years for participants with a period of follow-up of between 2 and 3 years is different from what was found by the original authors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Clinical events include death, WHO stage 4 events, severe bacterial infections and pulmonary tuberculosis for the HIV-1-infected partner.

As a result of this difference, the point estimate and the confidence interval of the hazard ratio in the early therapy group are larger than those found in the original paper for participants with a period of follow-up of between 2 and 3 years and participants with a period of follow-up of between 2 and 3 years and participants with a period of follow-up of set the set of the set o

For clinical events, we found that the hazard ratio was 0.61 (95% Cl, 0.41 to 0.90; p = 0.01). This represents a relative reduction of 41 per cent in the number of clinical events resulting from the early initiation of ART, as compared with delayed therapy. This is very similar to the value found by the original authors. They found that the hazard ratio in the early therapy group was 0.59 (95% Cl, 0.40 to 0.88; p = 0.01). We found a difference of 0.5 percentage points in the hazard ratio for the early therapy for participants with a period of follow-up of between 2 and 3 years.

The corresponding confidence interval of this hazard ratio is wider in comparison with the one found by the original authors. This led to a lack of statistical significance for early therapy among participants with a period of follow-up of between two and three years, whereas it was statistically significant in the original paper. However, this finding was just barely significant, as the upper end of the confidence interval was close to one.

Finally, in our Table 3, we present the pure replication results for the impact of the early therapy on the composite events.<sup>5</sup> For the early therapy group, we found the same number of composite events as the original paper. However, the total number of person-years for different groups in our pure replication is different from the numbers presented in the original paper, especially for the groups of total participants and participants with a period of follow-up of between two and three years. As a result, we found minor differences between the incidence rates in the results of our pure replication and the original paper.

For the delayed therapy group, although the number of composite events we found is identical to the original findings, the total number of person-years is different in our replication than the original paper. This difference can be considered a major difference for two groups: total participants and participants with a period of follow-up of between two and three years.

This leads to a minor difference in the hazard ratio between our pure replication and the original paper results for this time interval, although the significance remains unchanged. As in the original study, we found an identical hazard ratio in the early therapy group of 0.28 (95% CI, 0.18 to 0.45; p < 0.001). Furthermore, we find very similar ratios for participants with different periods of follow-up.

Through our replication of Figure 2 in the original paper, we discovered that 57 HIV-1uninfected participants and 9 HIV-1-infected participants were missing values for the duration, thus forcing Stata® to drop the variables from the survival time analysis. This is explained in more detail below; however, it is important to note that this could be the cause of some discrepancies between the original results in Table 2 and the replication in our Table 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Composite events include death or WHO stage 4 events (excluding oesophageal candidiasis) for the HIV-1 infected partner or HIV transmission to the uninfected partner, whichever occurred earlier.

	Early the	rapy				Del	ayed thera	ру						
	Original	Rep	Original Person-	Rep Person-	Original Rate (95%	Rep	Original	Rep	Original Person-	Rep Person-	Original	Rep Rate (95%	Original Hazard or rate	Rep Hazard or rate
	Events	Events	year	year	CI)	Rate (95% CI)	Events	Events	year	year	Rate (95% CI)	CI)	ratio (95% CI)	ratio (95% CI)
Linked transmiss	ion													
Total	1	1	1,585.3	1,585.3	0.1 (0.0–0.4)	0.1 (0.0–0.4)	27	27	1,567.3	1,567.3	1.7 (1.1–2.5)	1.7 (1.2–2.5)	0.04 (0.01–0.27)	0.04 (0.01–0.27)
1 year	1	1	819	819	0.1 (0.0–0.7)	0.1 (0.0–0.8)	16	16	813.3	813.3	2.0 (1.1–3.2)	2.0 (1.2–3.2)	0.06 (0.00-0.40)	0.06 (0.00–0.40)
2–3 years > 3 years	0 0	0 0	686.5 79.9	686.5 79.9	0.0 (0.0–0.5) 0.0 (0.0–4.6)	0.0 0.0	9 2	9 2	682.8 71.2	682.8 71.2	1.3 (0.6–2.5) 2.8 (0.3–10.1)	1.3 (0.72.5) 2.8 (0.7-11.2)	0.00 (0.00–0.50) 0.00 (0.00–4.75)	0.00 (0.00–0.50) 0.00 (0.00–5.18)
Any transmission	ı													
Total 1 year	4 2	4 2	1,585.3 819	1,585.3 819	0.3 (0.1–0.6) 0.2 (0.0–0.9)	0.3 (0.1–0.7) 0.2 (0.1–1.0)	35 18	35 18	1,567.3 813.3	1,567.3 813.3	2.2 (1.6–3.1) 2.2 (1.3–3.5)	2.2 (1.6–3.1) 2.2 (1.4–3.5)	0.11 (0.04–0.32) 0.11 (0.01–0.46)	0.11 (0.04–0.32) 0.11 (0.01–0.46)
2–3 years	2	2	686.5	686.5	0.3 (0.0–1.1)	0.3 (0.1–1.2)	14	14	682.8	682.8	2.1 (1.1–3.4)	2.1 (1.2–3.5)	0.14 (0.02–0.62)	0.14 (0.02–0.62)
> 3 years	0	0	79.9	79.9	0.0 (0.0–4.6)	0.0	3	3	71.2	71.2	4.2 (0.9–12.3)	4.2 (1.4–13.1)	0.00 (0.00–2.16)	0.00 (0.00–2.35)
Total 1 year	40 29	40 28	1,661.9 831	1,664.3 832.0	2.4 (1.8–3.3) 3.5 (2.3–5.0)	2.4 (1.8–3.3) 3.4 (2.3–4.9)	65 39	65 39	1,641.8 832.6	1,641.8 832.6	4.0 (3.1–5.0) 4.7 (3.3–6.4)	4.0 (3.1–5.0) 4.7 (3.4–6.4)	0.59 (0.40–0.88) 0.75 (0.44–1.24)	0.61 (0.41–0.90) 0.73 (0.43–1.22)
2–3 years > 3 years	9 2	10 2	739.8 91.1	741.3 91.1	1.3 (0.7–2.5) 2.2 (0.5–8.7)	1.3 (0.7–2.5) 2.2 (0.5–8.8)	21 5	21 5	725.7 83.6	725.7 83.6	2.9 (1.8–4.4) 6.0 (1.9–14.0)	2.9 (1.9–4.4) 6.0 (2.5–14.4)	0.42 (0.17–0.96) 0.37 (0.04–2.24)	0.47 (0.20–1.04) 0.39 (0.04–2.41)
Composite event	s				· · · · ·	<b>x y</b>					· · · · · ·	· · · · · ·	,	. ,
Total	23	23	1,700.1	1,692.5	1.4 (0.9–2.0)	1.4 (0.9–2.0)	79	79	1,642	1,632.5	4.8 (3.8–6.0)	4.8 (3.9–6.0)	0.28 (0.18–0.45)	0.28 (0.18–0.45)
1 year 2–3 years	13 8	13 8	843.7 763.8	841.5 758.6	1.5 (0.8–2.6) 1.0 (0.5–2.1)	1.5 (0.9–2.7) 1.1 (0.5–2.1)	47 26	47 26	833.9 732.5	832 725.5	5.6 (4.1–7.5) 3.5 (2.3–5.2)	5.6 (4.2–7.5) 3.6 (2.4–5.3)	0.27 (0.14–0.51) 0.30 (0.12–0.67)	0.30 (0.15–0.56) 0.30 (0.12–0.68)
> 3 years	2	2	92.6	92.4	2.2 (0.3–7.8)	2.2 (0.5-8.7)	6	6	75.5	75	7.9 (2.9–17.3)	8.0 (3.6–17.8)	027 (0.03–1.52)	0.30 (0.03–1.68)

#### Table 3: Incidence of partner-linked and any HIV-1 transmission and clinical and composite events

Note: Rep = replication study. We shade results from the replication study to indicate discrepancies we detected between the original results and results from the re-analysis.

Source: Authors' construction using the data from the original authors.

# 2.3.3 Original Figure 2: Kaplan–Meier estimates for partner-linked and any HIV-1 transmission and for clinical and composite events

We used the Kaplan–Meier method to replicate Figure 2 of the original paper (our Figure 1), using the same methods as the original study to produce unadjusted survival curves for the two study arms.<sup>6</sup> This is a nonparametric method to calculate the cumulative survival over time, considering different risk sets at each time point of individuals being lost to follow-up, still at risk or having already experienced the outcome (Kaplan and Meier 1958).

Figures 1A and 1B below are the Kaplan–Meier estimates for HIV-1-uninfected participants. The figures in panel 1 (original results) are generally similar in shape to those in panel 2 (replication results); however, there is a major difference in the number of observations between the two sets of results. Figure 1A in panel 1 shows that the total number of participants at risk at year 0 since randomisation is 1,775, yet our replication in panel 2 shows 1,718 observations at risk at year 0 (a difference of 57 observations).

We conducted an investigation into the causes of this discrepancy, which showed that 57 observations in the dataset provided by the original authors have missing data on the duration of the follow-up period (survival time).

Similarly, Figures 1C and 1D below – which are the Kaplan–Meier estimates for HIV-1infected participants – appear to have similar graphs in the original results (panel 1) and the replicated results (panel 2); however, the numbers also differ, for a similar reason to above. The original paper starts with 1,763 observations at year 0, while the results from our replication start with 1,754 observations at year 0. This is a difference of 9 observations. We conducted a similar investigation to that for uninfected participants and found that the duration data is missing for these 9 observations.

Thus, it is unclear how the original authors were able to obtain the original results of panel 1 with missing duration values for 57 HIV-1-uninfected participants and 9 HIV-1-infected participants. Without the duration values for these observations, Stata® does not include the observations in the survival time analysis to calculate the Kaplan–Meier estimates used for the graphical representation. This accounts for the differences in values of the risk tables associated with each graph. As stated above, this is the likely cause of the discrepancies in the original Table 2 (our Table 3) as well.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The original paper has two figures; however, we are unable to replicate the original Figure 1 on enrolment and outcomes because we lack information on: recruitment of couples from the general population; randomisation; HIV-1-uninfected partner's enrolment; seroconversion at baseline; retention; and loss-to-follow-up for assessment of the primary endpoint of linked HIV-1 transmission.

#### Figure 1: Kaplan–Meier estimates for partner-linked and any HIV-1 transmission and for clinical and composite events

#### Panel 1: Original results



Panel 2: Replication results

Source: Panel 1 (original results) from Cohen and colleagues (2011). Panel 2 (replication results) construction using the data from the original authors.

# 2.3.4 Original Table 3: Hazard ratios for prognostic factors for partner-linked and any HIV-1 transmission and for clinical and composite events

Our Table 4 presents the pure replication results for hazard ratios of prognostic factors for partner-linked and any HIV-1 transmission and for clinical and composite events. As in the original paper, we used univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses stratified according to study site to estimate relative risks, expressed as hazard ratios and 95 per cent confidence intervals.

This assessed the difference in the infected participant's baseline CD4 count, baseline plasma HIV-1 RNA concentration, sex and the baseline condom use on four events: linked transmissions, any transmissions, clinical events and composite events. This analysis adjusts for potential prognostic factors, including the infected participant's baseline CD4 count, baseline plasma HIV-1 RNA concentration, sex and baseline condom use.

The results of the univariate analysis from our pure replication are identical to the original paper results. For example, one of the results shows that the baseline CD4 count is higher for the original HIV-1-infected partner in the instances of linked HIV-1- transmission. Another result is that the probability of using condoms at baseline is significantly lower for the linked HIV-1 transmission participants.

Regarding the impact of early therapy on linked HIV-1 transmissions, any transmissions, clinical events and composite events (adjusting for potential prognostic factors), the results from our pure replication are identical to the original paper results, except in two cases where the differences are very minor.

In fact, these findings show that the main results of the paper do not change even when adjusting for potential prognostic factors. As in the univariate analysis, we found hazard ratios due to early therapy initiation of 0.04, 0.11, 0.59, and 0.28 for linked HIV-1 transmissions, any HIV-1 transmissions, clinical events and composite events, respectively. This represents a relative reduction of 96%, 89%, 41% and 72% in the number of linked HIV-1 transmissions, any HIV-1 transmissions, clinical events and composite events, respectively, resulting from early initiation of ART, as compared with delayed therapy.

	Original	Replication	Original	Replication	Original	Replication	Original	Replication
	Linked	Linked	Any	Any		Clinical	Composite	Composite
Univariate analysis	transmission	transmission	transmission	transmission	Clinical events	events	events	events
Early therapy vs.			0.11 (0.04–	0.11 (0.04–	0.60 (0.41–	0.60 (0.41–	0.28 (0.18–	0.28 (0.18–
delayed therapy	0.04 (0.01–0.26)	0.03 (0.00–0.26)	0.32)	0.32)	0.90)	0.90)	0.45)	0.45)
Baseline CD4 count								
(per 100 CD4			1.25 (1.02–	1.25 (1.02–	0.84 (0.70–	0.84 (0.70–	1.06 (0.91–	1.06 (0.91–
increment)	1.27 (1.02–1.59)	1.27 (1.02–1.59)	1.52)	1.52)	1.00)	1.00)	1.24)	1.24)
Baseline viral load								
(per unit log10			1.66 (1.08–	1.66 (1.08–	1.74 (1.32–	1.74 (1.32–	1.51 (1.15–	1.51 (1.15–
increment)	1.96 (1.17–3.27)	1.96 (1.17–3.27)	2.55)	2.55)	2.30)	2.30)	1.97)	1.97)
Male sex vs. female			0.88 (0.45–	0.88 (0.45–	1.61 (1.05–	1.61 (1.05–	1.18 (0.78–	1.18 (0.78–
sex	0.69 (0.31–1.52)	0.69 (0.31–1.52)	1.71)	1.71)	2.48)	2.48)	1.78)	1.78)
Baseline condom use			0.47 (0.19–	0.47 (0.19–			0.68 (0.29–	0.68 (0.29–
(100% vs. < 100%)	0.35 (0.14–0.88)	0.35 (0.14–0.88)	1.14)	1.14)	NA	NA	1.60)	1.60)
Multivariate analysis								
Early therapy vs.			0.11 (0.04–	0.11 (0.04–	0.59 (0.40–	0.59 (0.40–	0.28 (0.18–	0.28 (0.18–
delayed therapy	0.04 (0.01–0.28)	0.04 (0.01–0.28)	0.33)	0.33)	0.89)	0.89)	0.45)	0.45)
Baseline CD4 count								
(per 100 CD4			1.22 (1.02–	1.22 (1.02–	0.90 (0.75–	0.90 (0.75–	1.11 (0.96–	1.11 (0.96–
increment)	1.24 (1.00–1.54)	1.24 (1.00–1.54)	1.47)	1.47)	1.08)	1.08)	1.28)	1.28)
Baseline viral load								
(per unit log10			2.13 (1.30–	2.13 (1.30–	1.65 (1.24–	1.65 (1.24–	1.60 (1.21–	1.60 (1.21–
increment)	2.85 (1.51–5.41)	2.86 (1.51–5.40)	3.50)	3.50)	2.20)	2.19)	2.11)	2.11)
Male sex vs. female			1.00 (0.51–	1.00 (0.51–	1.46 (0.95–	1.46 (0.95–	1.18 (0.78–	1.18 (0.78–
sex	0.73 (0.33–1.65)	0.73 (0.32–1.65)	1.97)	1.97)	2.26)	2.26)	1.80)	1.80)
Baseline condom use			0.41 (0.16–	0.41 (0.16–			0.64 (0.27–	0.64 (0.27–
(100% vs. < 100%)	0.33 (0.12–0.91)	0.33 (0.12–0.91)	1.08)	1.08)	NA	NA	1.52)	1.52)

Table 4: Hazard ratios of prognostic factors for partner-linked and any HIV-1 transmission and for clinical and composite events

Note: NA = not applicable. We shaded results from the replication study to indicate discrepancies we detected between the original results and results from the re-analysis. Source: Authors' construction using the data from the original authors.

#### 2.4 Pure replication conclusions

In this pure replication of Cohen and colleagues' study (2011), we used data shared by the original authors to apply the same methods as the original paper. We were able to replicate most of the tables and the overall trajectory of the figures included in the original paper. We found minor differences, mostly in the original Table 2 presenting the main results of the original paper, and a major difference in the number of participants used to create the figures that display the main results of the paper (Figures 2A–2D in the original paper).

Specifically, the differences found are related to the fact that the pure replication results show a different hazard ratio and associated confidence interval for primary prevention outcome, primary treatment outcome and composite events for participants with a period of follow-up of between 2 and 3 years and participants with a period of follow-up of more than 3 years.

It is difficult to explain why we found these minor differences; they might be due to the missing data on survival time for some observations, and some might also be due to the utilisation of different software to produce the findings presented in the original paper and those in our pure replication. However, we think that the utilisation of different software should have a minimal effect on the results.

We note that these minor differences between our pure replication and the original paper results did not change the statistical significance of these findings, which were not statistically significant in the original paper in most cases. The major difference found in our pure replication was the number of participants at risk at year zero since randomisation.

In our pure replication of the original Figure 2 (displaying the main results), we find (see our Figure 1) that there are missing duration values for 57 HIV-1-uninfected participants and 9 HIV-1-infected participants from the dataset shared with us by the original authors. Although this difference did not fundamentally change the nature of the Kaplan–Meier graphs, the associated risk tables contain major differences.

In this pure replication, we were able to reproduce the main results of the original paper. As in the original paper, our replication shows a relative reduction of 96 per cent in the number of linked HIV-1 transmissions resulting from early initiation of ART, as compared with delayed therapy.

### 3. Measurement and estimation analysis

Although Cohen and colleagues (2011) conducted a thorough analysis, we conducted additional robustness checks to test the strength of their conclusions. In this section, we present the results of the measurement and estimation analysis (MEA). First, we conducted a subgroup analysis by region (African or non-African) to determine whether the impact of early therapy on sexual transmission of HIV-1 among HIV-1-uninfected partners is different by region.

Second, we conducted robustness checks to examine if patients from the same site<sup>7</sup> might lack independence (Kloek 1981; Moulton 1986). Although the authors stratified by site in the multivariate Cox regression, we clustered the standard errors by site to account for potential intra-site correlation. Next, we tested the Cox proportional hazards assumption using two methods: examining time-dependent covariates and using Schoenfeld residuals (Schoenfeld 1982). All analysis in the MEA, as in the pure replication, was done using Stata® version 15.1.

Two of our planned analyses in the MEA were not possible, given that the original authors declined to provide the relevant data. First, as male circumcision has been found to reduce HIV transmission by about 60 per cent (Auvert et al. 2005; Bailey et al. 2007; Gray et al. 2007), we planned to control for the male circumcision status that might significantly affect the hazard ratio for the effect of early ART on HIV-1 transmission to uninfected men. Finally, in order to better understand how early initiation of ART affects sexual transmission of HIV-1, we planned to assess whether the effect of early initiation of ART on rates of sexual transmission of HIV-1 varies by the level of adherence to ART.

#### 3.1 Differences by region (African or non-African)

#### 3.1.1 African nations only

A study by Abu-Raddad and colleagues (2013) reported higher viral loads in patients with HIV-1 infection in Sub-Saharan Africa compared with infected patients in other regions of the world. The HPTN052 study found that a high viral load at baseline is associated with an increased risk of HIV-1 transmission, and that 82 per cent of the new HIV-1 transmissions occurred in Africa even though only 54 per cent of all study participants were enrolled from this region.

This suggests that there may have been different baseline viral loads by region within the HPTN052 study. It is possible that the protective effect of treatment could differ by region and by average baseline viral load. In order to test this hypothesis, we conducted two separate subgroup analyses. First, we separated the total group of participants into two subgroups: participants from African countries and participants from non-African countries. Then we replicated Table 2 and Figure 2 of the original paper for these two subgroups, using the analytic approaches (the Kaplan–Meier method and the Cox regression) used in the original paper.

Our Table 5 presents the incidence of partner-linked HIV-1 transmission, any HIV-1 transmission, clinical events and composite events only for the subgroup of participants from Africa. We found that 23 transmissions were linked to the HIV-1-infected participants, with 1 transmission in the early therapy group (incidence rate 0.1 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 0.0 to 1.0) and 22 transmissions in the delayed therapy group (incidence rate 3.19 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 2.1 to 4.8), for a hazard ratio in the early therapy group of 0.04 (95% CI, 0.005 to 0.31; p < 0.01).

Thus, when we restrict the participants to the subgroup from Africa only, the result is identical to the main findings of the original paper, which found a relative reduction of 96 per cent in the number of linked HIV-1 transmissions resulting from early initiation of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The study was conducted in 9 countries at 13 sites.

ART, as compared with delayed therapy. In fact, this result shows that the higher viral load in patients infected with HIV-1 in Sub-Saharan Africa has no impact on the effect of early ART initiation on HIV-1 transmission.

Moreover, as in the original paper, we analysed the impact of early therapy initiation by the duration of the follow-up period only on the subgroup of participants from Africa. We found that for the 23 transmissions linked to HIV-1-infected participants in the early therapy group, 1 transmission (incidence rate 0.23 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 0.03 to 1.64) occurs among participants with a period of follow-up of 1 year; 0 transmissions (incidence rate 0.0 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 0.0 to 0.0) occur among participants with a period of follow-up of follow-up of between 2 and 3 years; and 0 transmissions (incidence rate 0.0 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 0.0 to 0.0) occur among participants with a period of follow-up of person-years; 95% CI, 0.0 to 0.0) occur among participants with a period of follow-up of person-years; 95% CI, 0.0 to 0.0) occur among participants with a period of follow-up of person-years; 95% CI, 0.0 to 0.0) occur among participants with a period of follow-up of person-years; 95% CI, 0.0 to 0.0) occur among participants with a period of follow-up of person-years; 95% CI, 0.0 to 0.0) occur among participants with a period of follow-up of person-years; 95% CI, 0.0 to 0.0) occur among participants with a period of follow-up of more than 3 years.

This is similar to the results for the total group, as is the relative risk reduction. The relative risk reduction due to the early therapy is 93 per cent among participants with a period of follow-up of one year in the subgroup of participants from Africa, whereas it is 94 per cent for participants from all regions.

This subgroup analysis by region on any transmission of HIV-1 mirrors that found for linked HIV-1 transmission. Specifically, we found 3 transmissions in the early therapy group (incidence rate 0.4 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 0.1 to 1.3) and 29 transmissions in the delayed therapy group (incidence rate 4.2 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 2.9 to 6.0), for a hazard ratio of 0.10 (95% CI, 0.03 to 0.32; p < 0.01).

Thus, we find a relative reduction of 90 per cent in the number of any HIV-1 transmissions for participants who received early initiation of ART, compared with delayed therapy. This is very similar to what we found when considering participants from all regions.

Next, we present the results of this subgroup analysis on clinical events and composite events (our Table 5). The proportion of participants from Africa with clinical events (45%) is lower than the proportion of participants from Africa in the total group of all regions (54%). However, the proportion of participants from Africa with composite events (57%) is similar to the proportion of participants from Africa in the total group (54%).

Despite the minor difference in the proportion of participants for clinical events in the early therapy group, the incidence rate of clinical events (2.5 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 1.57 to 3.86) is similar to the rate found in the original paper when considering the total group of all regions (2.4 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 1.70 to 3.35). This is also the case when considering the delayed therapy group.

Furthermore, we find a hazard ratio in the early therapy group of 0.66 (95% CI, 0.37 to 1.19) for the subgroup from Africa, while the hazard ratio in the early therapy group for the participants from all regions is 0.59 (95% CI, 0.40 to 0.88). Given the broader confidence intervals, we cannot conclude if early therapy has a protective effect against clinical events for African participants, while we could conclude this for participants from all regions.

For composite events, the incidence rate (1.40 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 0.80 to 2.5) for participants from Africa in the early therapy group is similar to the incidence rate found in the original paper when considering all regions (1.40 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 0.90 to 2.00). The same is true when we consider delayed therapy. The hazard ratio in the early therapy group for composite events for the subgroup from Africa only is 0.22 (95% CI, 0.11 to 0.42), which is relatively close to the hazard ratio for the early therapy group from all regions (0.28; 95% CI, 0.18 to 0.45).

Furthering this subgroup analysis by region, we used the Kaplan–Meier method on just the participants from Africa to produce our Figure 2, using the same methods as the original study to produce unadjusted survival curves for the two study arms. Figures 2A and 2B are the Kaplan–Meier estimates for the cumulative probabilities in the early and delayed therapy groups of linked HIV-1 transmission between partners, and any HIV transmission, respectively.

The figures in panel 1 (original results) are generally close in shape to panel 2 (African nations only). Similarly, Figures 2C and 2D show the Kaplan–Meier estimates for the cumulative probabilities of clinical events and composite events. The figures in panel 1 (original results) are also close in shape to panel 2 (African nations only).

To conclude, we find that early therapy is still effective in reducing HIV transmission when restricting the group of participants to those from Africa. The HPTN052 study found that a high viral load at baseline is associated with an increased risk of HIV transmission, and that 82 per cent of the new HIV-1 transmissions occurred in participants from Africa, who represented only 54 per cent of all participants enrolled in this study.

Importantly, the relative risk reduction when restricting the participants to the subgroup from Africa is similar to what is found in the original paper with participants from all regions. Thus, we can conclude that despite the high viral load of HIV patients in Africa, early therapy is associated with a 94 per cent lower risk of linked HIV-1 transmission.

	Early therapy Delayed therapy							
							Hazard or	
		Person-	Rate		Person		rate ratio	
	Events	year	(95% CI)	Events	-year	Rate (95% CI)	(95% CI)	
Linked trans	nission							
			0.1 (0.0–				0.04 (0.01–	
Total	1	718	1.0)	22	690.7	3.19 (2.1–4.8)	0.31)	
			0.2 (0.0-			( - )	0.07 (0.00-	
1 vear	1	431.9	1.6)	15	428.8	3.5 (2.1–5.8)	0.48)	
2–3			- /				0.00 (0.00-	
vears	0	261.9	0.0	5	250.3	2.0 (0.8–4.8)	1.1)	
> 3	-			-		17.2 (4.3–	0.00 (0.00-	
vears	0	24.3	0.0	2	11.6	68.9)	3.3)	
Any transmis	sion					,	,	
·,			0.4 (0.1–				0.10 (0.03–	
Total	3	718	1.3)	29	690.7	4.2 (2.9–6.0)	0.32)	
	-	-	0.4 (0.1–	-		( /	0.14 (0.02-	
1 vear	2	431.9	1.9)	16	428.8	3.7 (2.3–6.1)	0.60)	
2–3			0.4 (0.1–			X /	0.10 (0.00-	
vears	1	261.9	2.7)	10	250.3	4.0 (2.1–7.4)	0.69)	
> 3			,			25.8 (8.3–	0.00 (0.00-	
years	0	24.3	0.0	3	11.6	80.1)	1.49)	
Clinical						,	,	
events								
			2.5 (1.6–				0.66 (0.37–	
Total	19	770.5	3.9)	28	752.8	3.7 (2.6–5.4)	1.19)	
			3.6 (2.2–			<b>x y</b>	0.87 (0.43–	
1 year	16	444.5	5.9)	22	445.8	4.9 (3.2–7.5)	1.74)	
2–3			0.7 (0.2–				0.64 (0.05–	
years	2	297.9	2.7)	3	283.7	1.1 (0.3–3.3)	5.5)	
> 3			3.6 (0.5–			12.9 (4.2–	0.30 (0.01–	
years	1	28.1	25.2)	3	23.2	39.9)	3.76)	
Composite e	vents							
-			1.4 (0.8–				0.22 (0.11–	
Total	11	782.1	2.5)	47	737.3	6.4 (4.8–8.5)	0.42)	
			1.3 (0.6–				0.24 (0.08–	
1 year	6	450.1	3.0)	32	444.1	7.2 (5.1–10.2)	0.58)	
2–3			1.3 (0.5–				0.34 (0.08–	
years	4	303.7	3.5)	11	276.7	4.0 (2.2–7.2)	1.1)	
> 3			3.5 (0.5–			24.3 (9.1–	0.17 (0.00–	
years	1	28.3	25.1)	4	16.5	64.8)	1.73)	

 Table 5: Incidence of partner-linked and any HIV-1 transmission and clinical and composite events (African nations only)

Source: Authors' construction using the data from the original authors. Blank cells denote a result of '.' from Stata® Figure 2: Kaplan–Meier estimates for partner-linked and any HIV-1 transmission and for clinical and composite events (African nations only)

#### Panel 1: Original results



#### Panel 2: Replication results

Source: Panel 1 (original results) from Cohen and colleagues (2011). Panel 2 (replication results) authors' construction using the data from the original authors.

#### 3.1.2 Non-African nations

Our Table 6 presents the incidence of partner-linked HIV-1 transmission, any HIV-1 transmission, clinical events and composite events for a subgroup of participants from non-African nations. We found that 5 transmissions were linked to HIV-1-infected participants (incidence rate 0.28 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 0.12 to 0.70), with 0 transmissions in the early therapy group (incidence rate 0 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 0.12 to 0.70), with 0 to 0) and 5 transmissions in the delayed therapy group (incidence rate 0.57 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 0.24 to 1.37), for a hazard ratio of 1.91e-16 (95% CI, 0 to ; p < 0.01).<sup>8</sup>

Thus, when we restrict the participants to the subgroup from non-African nations only, the result is very different from the main finding presented in the original paper. In fact, we find a non-significant relative reduction of 100 per cent in the number of linked HIV-1 transmissions resulting from early initiation of ART, as compared with delayed therapy. These results, if significant, would imply that in a context of lower viral loads in patients with HIV-1 infection in non-African nations, the early ART initiation on HIV-1 transmission might not be effective.

The results from the replication of the 'any transmissions' outcome on non-African participants show that early ART initiation is not effective in reducing HIV-1 transmission. Specifically, we found 1 transmission in the early therapy group (incidence rate 0.11 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 0.02 to 0.82) and 6 transmissions in the delayed therapy group (incidence rate 0.69 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 0.31 to 1.52), for a hazard ratio of 0.17 (95% CI, 0.02 to 1.4; p < 0.1).

In short, we find that early initiation of ART has no impact on any HIV-1 transmissions. This finding indicates that, in a context of lower viral loads in patients, the total number of HIV-1 transmissions resulting from early initiation of ART (regardless of viral linkage with the infected partner) is not impacted.

Table 6 shows that the proportion of participants from non-African nations with clinical events (55%) is higher than the proportion of participants from non-African nations in the total group of all regions (46%). However, the proportion of participants from non-African nations with composite events (43%) is similar to the proportion of participants from non-African nations in the total group (46%).

Despite this minor difference in the proportion of participants with clinical events, in the early therapy group the incidence rate of clinical events for non-African participants (2.35 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 1.53 to 3.60) is similar to the rate for the total group (2.4 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 1.70 to 3.35). This is also the case when considering the delayed therapy group.

Furthermore, the hazard ratio for clinical events of participants from non-African nations is 0.56 (95% CI, 0.33 to 0.96), while the hazard ratio for the total group of participants from all regions is 0.59 (95% CI, 0.40 to 0.88). This finding suggests that early therapy has a protective effect against clinical events on participants from non-African nations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The analysis produced a CI of 0 to ., denoted above by blank from Stata®.

Additionally, the incidence rate (1.31 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 0.74 to 2.32) of composite events of non-African participants in the early therapy group is similar to what we found (1.40 per 100 person-years; 95% CI, 0.90 to 2.00) in the early therapy group for the total group from all regions. The same is true when we consider the delayed therapy. Finally, the hazard ratio for the composite events for non-African participants is 0.37 (95% CI, 0.19 to 0.71), which is higher than the relative risk reduction (0.28; 95% CI, 0.18 to 0.45) found for the total group.

We used the Kaplan–Meier method on just the participants from non-African nations to produce our Figure 3, using the same methods as the original study to produce unadjusted survival curves for the two study arms. Figures 3A and 3B are the Kaplan–Meier estimates for the cumulative probabilities of linked HIV-1 transmission between partners and any transmission in the early therapy and delayed therapy groups, respectively.

The shape of the figures in panel 2 (non-African nations) is very different from the shape of the figures in panel 1 (African nations only) for linked HIV transmission and any HIV transmission. This is an illustration of the lack of impact of early initiation therapy on HIV-1 transmission outside Africa. Moreover, Figures 3C and 3D (which are the Kaplan–Meier estimates for the cumulative probabilities of clinical events and composite events among participants in the early therapy and delayed therapy groups) show that when restricting the group of participants to those from non-African nations (panel 2), the results are also close in shape to the original results (panel 1). In short, the Kaplan–Meier estimates show a lack of statistically significant impacts of early ART initiation on HIV-1 transmission.

To conclude, we did not find statistically significant results indicating whether early ART initiation is effective in reducing HIV-1 transmission when restricting the analysis to participants from non-African nations. Importantly, while the relative risk reduction when restricting the participants to the subgroup from non-African nations is higher than for the total group, it is not statistically significant for linked HIV-1 transmission or any transmission of HIV-1. We want to stress that this lack of impact is likely to be due to a low statistical power when restricting the participants to those from non-African countries.

	Early therapy		Delayed	therapy			
	Events	Person-year	Rate (95% CI)	Events	Person-year	Rate (95% CI)	Hazard or rate ratio (95% CI)
Linked transmission							
Total	0	867.3	0.0	5	876.6	0.6 (0.2–1.4)	1.91 e-16 (0.00– )
1 year	0	387.1	0.0	1	384.4	0.3 (0.0–1.8)	0.00 (0.00–28.75)
2–3 years	0	424.6	0.0	4	432.5	0.9 (0.3–2.5)	0.00 (0.00–1.52)
> 3 years	0	55.6	0.0	0	59.6	0.0	
Any transmission							
Total	1	867.3	0.1 (0.0–0.8)	6	876.6	0.7 (0.3–1.5)	0.17 (0.02–1.40)
1 year	0	819	0.0 (0.0–0.0)	2	384.4	0.5 (0.1–2.1)	0.00 (0.00–3.92)
2–3 years	1	686.5	0.2 (0.0–2.5)	4	432.5	0.9 (0.3–2.5)	0.25 (0.01–2.54)
> 3 years	0	79.9	0.0 (0.0–0.0)	0	59.6	0.0	
Clinical events							
Total	21	893.8	2.3 (1.5–3.6)	37	889.0	4.2 (3.0–5.7)	0.56 (0.33–0.96)
1 year	12	387.5	3.1 (1.8–5.5)	17	386.8	4.4 (2.7–7.1)	0.44 (0.19–0.97)
2–3 years	8	443.3	1.8 (0.9–3.6)	18	442.0	4.1 (2.6–6.5)	0.45 (0.17–1.09)
> 3 years	1	63.0	1.6 (0.2–11.3)	2	60.3	3.3 (0.8–13.3)	0.51 (0.01–9.7)
Composite events							
Total	12	910.4	1.3 (0.7–2.3)	32	895.2	3.6 (2.5–5.1)	0.37 (0.19–0.71)
1 year	7	391.5	1.8 (0.9–3.8)	15	387.9	3.9 (2.3–6.4)	0.30 (0.10–0.78)
2–3 years	4	454.9	0.9 (0.3–2.3)	15	448.7	3.3 (2.0–5.5)	0.27 (0.7–0.85)
> 3 years	1	64.1	1.6 (0.2–11.1)	2	58.6	3.4 (0.9–13.7)	0.48 (0.01–9.31)

Table 6: Incidence of partner-linked and any HIV-1 transmission and clinical and composite events (non-African nations only)

Source: Authors' construction using the data from the original authors. Blank cells denote a result of '.' from Stata®.

Figure 3: Kaplan–Meier estimates for partner-linked and any HIV-1 transmission and for clinical and composite events (non-African nations only)



#### Panel 1: Original results

Source: Authors' construction using the data from the original authors.

#### 3.2 Clustering

We conduct additional robustness checks to examine if patients from the same site might lack independence (Kloek 1981; Moulton 1986). Although the authors stratified by site in the multivariate Cox regression in the HPTN052 study, this does not correct for intra-site correlation. To account for this, we cluster the standard errors by site, as there were 13 sites in 9 countries. To check the robustness of the main results, we replicate the main results (our Table 3), clustering the standard errors by site ID using the command 'cluster' in Stata®.

As expected, we find the same effect size of hazard ratios for prognostic factors for partner-linked and any HIV-1 transmission and clinical and composite events (our Table 7). However, the standard errors have narrower confidence intervals, indicating a possible intra-site correlation. In addition to an increased significance level, clustering rendered baseline condom use (100% versus < 100%) from insignificant (95% CI, 0.19 to 1.14) to significant (0.31 to 0.71).

Table 7: Hazard ratios for prognostic factors for partner-linked transmission, any HIV-1 transmission, clinical events	and composite
events (clustering)	

	Adjusted for			Adjusted for				Adjusted for	
	Original	clustering	Original	clustering	Original	clustering	Original	clustering	
	Linked	Linked	Any	Any		Clinical	Composite		
	transmission	transmission	transmission	transmission	Clinical events	events	events	Composite events	
Univariate									
analysis									
Early therapy vs.	0.04 (0.01–	0.03 (0.01–	0.11 (0.04–	0.11 (0.06–	0.60 (0.41–	0.60 (0.42–	0.28 (0.18–		
delayed therapy	0.26)	0.19)	0.32)	0.22)	0.90)	0.86)	0.45)	0.28 (0.20–0.41)	
Baseline CD4 count									
(per 100 CD4	1.27 (1.02–	1.27 (1.16–	1.25 (1.02–	1.25 (1.14–	0.84 (0.70–	0.84 (0.63–	1.06 (0.91–		
increment)	1.59)	1.40)	1.52)	1.37)	1.00)	1.10)	1.24)	1.06 (0.92–1.22)	
Baseline viral load									
(per unit log10	1.96 (1.17–	1.96 (1.52–	1.66 (1.08–	1.66 (1.25–	1.74 (1.32–	1.74 (1.37–	1.51 (1.15–		
increment)	3.27)	2.51)	2.55)	2.21)	2.30)	2.23)	1.97)	1.51 (1.15–1.98)	
Male sex vs. female	0.69 (0.31–	0.69 (0.40–	0.88 (0.45–	0.88 (0.53–	1.61 (1.05–	1.61 (1.20–	1.18 (0.78–		
sex	1.52)	1.17)	1.71)	1.46)	2.48)	2.17)	1.78)	1.18 (0.78–1.79)	
Baseline condom use	e 0.35 (0.14–	0.35 (0.25–	0.47 (0.19–	0.47 (0.31–			0.68 (0.29–		
(100% vs. < 100%)	0.88)	0.47)	1.14)	0.71)	NA	NA	1.60)	0.68 (0.36–1.30)	
Multivariate analysis									
Early therapy vs.	0.04 (0.01–	0.04 (0.01–	0.11 (0.04–	0.11 (0.06–	0.59 (0.40–	0.59 (0.42-	0.28 (0.18–		
delayed therapy	0.28)	0.19)	0.33)	0.22)	0.89)	0.85)	0.45)	0.28 (0.19-0.41)	
Baseline CD4 count									
(per 100 CD4	1.24 (1.00–	1.24 (1.13–	1.22 (1.02–	1.22 (1.13–	0.90 (0.75–	0.90 (0.70-	1.11 (0.96–		
increment)	1.54)	1.36)	1.47)	1.33)	1.08)	1.17)	1.28)	1.11 (0.97–1.26)	
Baseline viral load									
(per unit log10	2.85 (1.51–	2.86 (1.72–	2.13 (1.30–	2.13 (1.42–	1.65 (1.24–	1.65 (1.31–	1.60 (1.21–		
increment)	5.41)	4.75)	3.50)	3.21)	2.20)	2.08)	2.11)	1.60 (1.14–2.25)	
Male sex vs. female	0.73 (0.33–	0.73 (0.48–	1.00 (0.51–	1.00 (0.58–	1.46 (0.95–	1.46 (1.09–	1.18 (0.78–		
sex	1.65)	1.13)	1.97)	1.71)	2.26)	1.96)	1.80)	1.18 (0.79–1.76)	
Baseline condom use	e 0.33 (0.12–	0.33 (0.24–	0.41 (0.16–	0.41 (0.29–			0.64 (0.27–		
(100% vs. < 100%)	0.91)	0.45)	1.08)	0.59)	NA	NA	1.52)	0.64 (0.35–1.17)	

Note: NA = not applicable. Source: Authors' construction using the data from the original authors.

#### 3.3 Circumcision

In the last decade, three studies (Auvert et al. 2005; Bailey et al. 2007; Gray et al. 2007) found that medical male circumcision is effective in reducing the risk of heterosexually acquired HIV infection in men by about 60 per cent. These three studies were so influential that WHO and UNAIDS recommended medical male circumcision as an efficacious intervention for the prevention of heterosexually acquired HIV infection in men (WHO and UNAIDS 2007).

The HPTN052 study did not control for the circumcision status of HIV-1-uninfected males, although it found a statistically significant imbalance in the proportion of circumcised men in the early therapy group and the delayed therapy group at baseline. Furthermore, 51 per cent of the total participants were men. As circumcision status may significantly affect the analysis in this study, we planned to control for male circumcision in our original analysis plan for the MEA. However, we were not able to conduct this analysis as the original authors declined to provide the data on male circumcision, given evidence of measurement error.

#### 3.4 Prior HIV treatment through PMTCT

Patients with HIV-1 infection were only eligible for this study if their CD4 count was between 350 and 550 (at the time not yet eligible for ART, with 550 considered 'healthy') and they had received no previous ART. An exception was made for prior use of ART due to short-term use for the prevention of mother-to-child transmission (PMTCT) of HIV-1.

Among the HIV-1-infected participants, 27 per cent of participants in both study arms were women who reported prior ART use for PMTCT. Evidence suggests that women with prior exposure to ART through PMTCT, or women with ART interruption due to PMTCT, have poorer health outcomes once they begin lifetime ART treatment (Naidu et al. 2012).

Given this evidence, we conducted a subgroup analysis on women with prior ART treatment for PMTCT. We created two subgroups: one with HIV-1-infected women who have received prior ART for PMTCT (27% of HIV-1-infected women in the total group, or 235 women), and one with the remainder of participants with no prior exposure to ART (the remainder of the total group including 73% of HIV-1-infected women). Given that the sample size of participants with prior exposure to ART for PMTCT is relatively small, we did not run any analysis given severe lack of power. Our Table 8 presents the results for the subgroup of participants with no prior exposure.

The results for linked HIV-1 transmission and any transmission of HIV-1 are identical to those presented in Table 2 in the original paper, given that these outcomes did not originally include participants with prior exposure to ART. For these analyses, participants are censored when they become HIV infected (the outcome of interest). Women with prior exposure to ART are naturally excluded because they already have the outcome of interest (HIV-1 infection).

Conversely, the results presented in our Table 8 for clinical events and composite events are slightly different from those presented in the original paper, given that these

outcomes are for participants infected with HIV-1 at baseline. In fact, as in the original paper, these results show that even when restricting participants to those with no prior exposure to ART, early therapy has a protective effect against clinical events and composite events. For clinical events, the hazard ratio in the early therapy group is 0.60 (95% CI, 0.40 to 0.91), whereas for composite events the hazard ratio in the early therapy therapy group is 0.31 (95% CI, 0.19 to 0.49).

We used the Kaplan–Meier method to produce our Figure 4 by restricting participants to those with no prior exposure to ART for PMTCT. We used the same methods as the original study to produce unadjusted survival curves for the two study arms. Figures 4A and 4B are the Kaplan–Meier estimates for the cumulative probabilities of partner-linked and any HIV-1 transmission in the early therapy and delayed therapy groups.

Panel 2, the subgroup with no prior exposure to ART for PMTCT, is identical to the figures in panel 1 (the original results) for partner-linked and any transmission of HIV-1, for the reasons discussed above. Figures 4C and 4D are the Kaplan–Meier estimates for the cumulative probabilities of clinical events and composite events in the early therapy group and the delayed therapy groups. Panel 2, the subgroup with no prior exposure to ART for PMTCT, is similar in shape to the figures in panel 1 (the original results).

	Early therapy			Delayed t	herapy		
	Events	Person-year	Rate (95% CI)	Events	Person-year	Rate (95% CI)	Hazard or rate ratio (95% CI)
Linked transmission							
Total	1	1,585.3	0.1 (0.0–0.4)	27	1,567.3	1.7 (1.2–2.5)	0.04 (0.01–0.27)
1 year	1	819	0.1 (0.0–0.9)	16	813.3	2.0 (1.2–3.2)	0.06 (0.00–0.40)
2–3 years	0	686.5	0.0 (0.0–0.0)	9	682.8	1.3 (0.7–2.5)	0.00 (0.00–0.50)
> 3 years	0	79.9	0.0 (0.0–0.0)	2	71.2	2.8 (0.7–11.2)	0.00 (0.00–5.18)
Any transmission							
Total	4	1,585.3	0.3 (0.1–0.7)	35	1,567.3	2.2 (1.6–3.1)	0.11 (0.04–0.32)
1 year	2	819	0.2 (0.1–1.0)	18	813.3	2.2 (1.4–3.5)	0.11 (0.01–0.46)
2–3 years	2	686.5	0.3 (0.1–1.2)	14	682.8	2.1 (1.1–3.5)	0.14 (0.02–0.62)
> 3 years	0	79.9	0.0 (0.0–0.0)	3	71.2	4.2 (1.4–13.1)	0.00 (0.00–2.35)
Clinical events							
Total	37	1,432.1	2.6 (1.9–3.6)	61	1,417.7	4.3 (3.3–5.5)	0.60 (0.40–0.91)
1 year	26	719.6	3.6 (2.5–5.3)	37	718.1	5.2 (3.7–7.1)	0.76 (0.44–1.30)
2–3 years	10	638.9	1.6 (0.8–2.9)	19	626.5	3.0 (1.9–4.8)	0.51 (0.21–1.14)
> 3 years	1	73.6	1.4 (0.2–9.6)	5	73.1	6.8 (2.8–16.4)	0.21 (0.00–1.90)
Composite events							
Total	22	1,456.6	1.5 (0.9–2.3)	70	1,415.3	4.9 (3.9–6.3)	0.31 (0.19–0.49)
1 year	13	727.7	1.8 (1.0–3.1)	41	718.8	5.7 (4.2–7.7)	0.36 (0.18–0.69)
2–3 years	8	654.2	1.2 (0.6–2.4)	23	629.4	3.7 (2.4–5.5)	0.33 (0.13–0.76)
> 3 years	1	74.7	1.3 (0.2–9.5)	6	67.2	8.9 (4.0–19.9)	0.16 (0.00–1.37)

Table 8: Incidence of partner-linked and any HIV-1 transmission and clinical and composite events (sample with no prior ART use for PMTCT)

Source: Panel 1 (original results) from Cohen and colleagues (2011). Panel 2 (replication results) authors' construction using the data from the original authors.

Figure 4: Kaplan–Meier estimates for partner-linked and any HIV-1 transmission and for clinical and composite events (subgroup with no prior ART use for PMTCT)

#### Panel 1: Original results



Source: Authors' construction using the data from the original authors.

#### Panel 2: Results for subgroup with no prior ART use for PMTCT

#### 3.5 Cox proportional hazards assumption

In the HPTN052 study, the authors used Cox regression analyses to estimate relative risk ratios. Cox analyses are often used to conduct survival-time analyses to estimate the length of time it takes for an event to occur. In this case, the events of interest are any transmission of HIV-1, partner-linked transmission of HIV-1, clinical events and composite events. However, the validity of the Cox model relies on whether all predictors satisfy the proportional hazards assumptions.

Violations of these assumptions can produce results that are not meaningful, indicating that a different estimation strategy would be more appropriate to estimate the effect of the intervention (Lin et al. 1993). In this case, the assumption of constant relative hazard might not hold true, given that treatment may lower transmission risk and that new HIV-1 infection may be more likely to result in transmission.

We used two different methods to test the Cox proportional hazards assumption: using Schoenfeld residuals and including time-dependent covariates in the model. We conducted these tests using key variables that apply to both HIV-1-infected and HIV-1- uninfected participants included in Table 1 on baseline characteristics, in the original study by Cohen and colleagues (2011).

Using Schoenfeld residuals tests whether there is independence between residuals and time. This test is analogous to testing whether the slope of scaled residuals on time is zero; a non-zero slope could indicate a violation of the proportional hazard assumption.

Table 9 shows the results of using Schoenfeld residuals to test for the different outcomes and the covariates used in the multivariate analysis, including age, sex, educational status, self-reported sexual behaviour and rate of condom use. As we can see, no p-values (prob > chi2) are less than 0.05. Thus, we fail to reject the null hypothesis that the slope is zero and conclude that the treatment status and the covariates meet the Cox proportional hazards assumption.

To further test the proportional hazards assumption, we included time-dependent covariates in the model. This test generates time-dependent covariates by creating interactions of the predictors and a function of survival time; any statistically significant (p < 0.05) results would not be proportional. Results are stratified by site, as in the original analysis. Tables 9–13 present these results for linked transmission, any transmission, clinical events and composite events. Results show that none of the time-dependent covariates are statistically significant, implying that the Cox proportional hazards assumption is met.

Table 9: Testing the	e assumptions	of the Cox	proportional	hazards model
----------------------	---------------	------------	--------------	---------------

		Linked	transmiss	sion		Any tra	Any transmission			Clinica	Clinical events				Composite events		
					prob >				prob >				prob >				prob >
Tuestuesent		rho	chi2	df	chi2	rho	chi2	df	chi2	rho	chi2	df	chi2	rho	chi2	df	chi2
Ireatment		-0.19	1.04	1	0.31	0.03	0.03	1	0.87	-0.13	1.98	1	0.16	-0.01	0.01	1	0.91
Sex (men = 0, women =	1)	-0.01	0.00	1	0.94	0.09	0.28	1	0.60	0.07	0.55	1	0.46	0.06	0.36	1	0.55
Age group	18–25 years			1				1				1				1	
	26–40 years	0.28	1.71	1	0.19	0.10	0.28	1	0.60	0.12	1.47	1	0.23	0.04	0.19	1	0.66
	> 40 years	-0.12	0.38	1	0.54	-0.17	1.18	1	0.28	0.07	0.47	1	0.50	0.01	0.00	1	0.95
Education	No schooling			1				1				1				1	
	Primary schooling	-0.11	0.31	1	0.58	-0.14	0.73	1	0.39	-0.01	0.01	1	0.94	0.04	0.19	1	0.66
	Secondary schooling Post-secondary	-0.11	0.29	1	0.59	-0.20	1.50	1	0.22	0.10	1.15	1	0.28	0.14	1.98	1	0.16
	schooling	-0.01	0.00	1	0.96	-0.03	0.05	1	0.83	0.01	0.00	1	0.95	0.01	0.02	1	0.89
Marital status	Single Married or living with			1				1				1				1	
	partner Widowed, separated	0.30	1.44	1	0.23	0.06	0.10	1	0.75	0.07	0.51	1	0.47	0.04	0.22	1	0.64
Condom use in last week (no unprotected sex = 0,	or divorced	0.24	0.00	1	1.00	0.05	0.00	1	1.00	0.04	0.00	1	1.00	0.05	0.00	1	1.00
any unprotected sex = 1) No. of sex partners in		-0.02	0.01	1	0.92	0.04	0.07	1	0.80	0.01	0.02	1	0.88	-0.03	0.08	1	0.77
past 3 months	0–1			1				1				1				1	
	2–4	-0.26	1.92	1	0.17	0.00	0.00	1	0.98	0.08	0.68	1	0.41	0.16	2.59	1	0.11
No. of sexual encounters in past	> 4	-0.15	0.00	1	1.00	0.02	0.00	1	1.00	-0.02	0.00	1	1.00	0.08	0.77	1	0.38
week	0			1				1				1				1	
	1–2	-0.09	0.24	1	0.62	-0.20	1.57	1	0.21	0.08	0.70	1	0.40	0.07	0.47	1	0.49
	3–4	-0.01	0.00	1	0.96	-0.04	0.05	1	0.82	0.02	0.03	1	0.87	0.03	0.09	1	0.76
	> 4	0.08	0.16	1	0.69	-0.01	0.00	1	0.96	0.18	3.44	1	0.06	0.04	0.16	1	0.69
Global test			9.13	15	0.87		7.18	15	0.95		13.01	15	0.60		9.50	15	0.85

Note: We used Schoenfeld residuals to test the proportional hazards assumption along sex, age, education level, marital status and sexual activity. Source: Authors' construction using the data from the original authors.

Blank cells denote the reference group for the categorial variable considered and automatically excluded from the regression by Stata®.

Linked	I transmission							
		_t	Coefficient	Standard error	Z	P > z	[95% CI]	
maın	Education	Neschooling						
	Education	Primary schooling	1 20	1 09	1 10	0.27	-0.93	3 33
		Secondarery schooling	1.20	1 11	0.90	0.37	-1 18	3 18
		Post-secondary schooling	1.01	1.31	0.77	0.44	-1.56	3.57
	Marital status	Single						
		Married or living with partner	-0.48	1.25	-0.39	0.70	-2.92	1.96
		Widowed, separated or divorced	-34.83	1.36E+08	0	1	-2.66E+08	2.66E+08
	No. of sex partners in past 3 months	0–1						
		2–4	0.74	0.68	1.08	0.28	-0.60	2.08
		> 4	-32.85	6.31E+07	0.00	1.00	-1.24E+08	1.24E+08
	No. of sexual encounters in past week	0		0.50	4.05	0.40		4.07
		1-2	0.80	0.59	1.35	0.18	-0.36	1.97
		> 4	0.98	0.05	0.66	0.13	-0.30	2.25
tuc			0.02	0.01	0.00	0.01	1.20	2.10
100	Education	No schooling						
		Primary schooling	-0.65	1 46	-0.45	0.66	-3 50	2 2 1
		Secondary schooling	-0.76	1 4 9	-0.51	0.61	-3.68	2 16
		Post-secondary schooling	0.70	1.76	0.01	0.76	2.00	2.10
	•• • • • • •	Single	-0.54	1.76	-0.31	0.70	-3.90	2.90
	Marital status	Married or living with partner						
			0.82	1.97	0.42	0.68	-3.03	4.68
		widowed, separated or divorced	2.52	1.79E+08	0	1	-3.51E+08	3.51E+08
	No. of sex partners in past 3 months	0–1						
		2–4	-0.87	0.81	-1.07	0.29	-2.45	0.72
		> 4	0.00	(omitted)				
	No. of sexual encounters in past week	0						
		1-2	-0.61	0.78	-0.79	0.43	-2.15	0.92
		3-4	-0.31	0.86	-0.36	0.72	-1.99	1.37
		~ 4	0.09	1.40	0.47	0.04	-2.10	3.33
				Likelihood-ratio test			LR chi2 (9)	3.11
							Prob > chi2	0.96

#### Table 10: Testing the assumptions of the Cox proportional hazards model: linked transmission

Note: We used time-dependent covariates to test the proportional hazards assumption along sex, age, education level, marital status and sexual activity. Time-dependent covariates are interacted with the log(time) in tvc equation.

Source: Authors' construction using the data from the original authors. Blank cells denote the reference group for the categorial variable considered and automatically excluded from the regression by Stata®.

Any tran	smission							
				Standard		_		
<u> </u>		_t	Coefficient	error	Z	P > z	[95% CI]	
main	E has dee	N						
	Education	No schooling	0.07					0.00
		Primary schooling	0.97	0.93	1.04	0.30	-0.86	2.80
		Secondary schooling	0.77	0.95	0.81	0.42	-1.10	2.64
		Post-secondary schooling	0.44	1.16	0.38	0.70	-1.84	2.73
	Marital status	Single						
		Married or living with partner	-0.55	0.93	-0.59	0.56	-2.37	1.28
		Widowed, separated or divorced	-36.55	2.50E+08	0	1	-4.89E+08	4.89E+08
	No. of sex partners in past 3 months	0–1						
		2–4	1.04	0.52	2.00	0.05	0.02	2.07
		> 4	-35.03	1.97E+08	0.00	1.00	-3.86E+08	3.86E+08
	No. of sexual encounters in past week	0						
		1–2	0.05	0.45	0.12	0.91	-0.82	0.93
		3–4	0.25	0.50	0.49	0.62	-0 74	1 23
		> 4	0.52	0.63	0.82	0.41	-0.72	1 76
tvc							•=	
	Education	No schooling						
		Primary schooling	-1.07	1.30	-0.82	0.41	-3.62	1.49
		Secondary schooling	-1 53	1 34	-1 14	0.25	-4 16	1 10
		Post-secondary schooling	-1.07	1 59	-0.67	0.50	-4 19	2.06
	Marital status	Single	1.07	1.00	0.07	0.00	4.10	2.00
		Married or living with partner	-0.55	1 39	-0 40	0.69	-3 27	2 17
		Widowed, separated or divorced	0.45	3.48E+08	0	1	-6.82E+08	6.82E+08
	No. of sex partners in past 3 months	0–1						
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	2–4	-0.16	0.66	-0.25	0.80	-1.46	1.13
		> 4	0.60	2.11E+08	0.00	1.00	-4.14E+08	4.14E+08
	No. of sexual encounters in past week	0						
		1–2	-0.82	0.62	-1.33	0.18	-2.03	0.39
		3–4	-0.52	0.68	-0.77	0.44	-1.86	0.82
		> 4	0.03	0.93	0.03	0.98	-1.80	1.85
				Likelihood-				
				ratio test			LR chi2 (10)	4.48
							Prob > chi2	0.92

#### Table 11: Testing the assumptions of the Cox proportional hazards model: any transmission

Note: We used time-dependent covariates to test the proportional hazards assumption along sex, age, education level, marital status and sexual activity. Time-dependent covariates are interacted with the log(time) in tvc equation.

Source: Authors' construction using the data from the original author. Blank cells denote the reference group for the categorial variable considered and automatically excluded from the regression by Stata<sup>®</sup>.

Clinica	l events							
		_t	Coefficient	Standard error	Z	P > z	[95% CI]	
main								
	Education	No schooling						
		Primary schooling	-0.10	0.35	-0.30	0.76	-0.78	0.58
		Secondary schooling	-0.05	0.36	-0.15	0.88	-0.75	0.65
		Post-secondary schooling	-0.42	0.50	-0.84	0.40	-1.41	0.56
	Marital status	Single						
		Married or living with partner	1.48	1.27	1.16	0.25	-1.01	3.97
		Widowed, separated or divorced	-33 48	7 17E+07	0	1	-141E+08	1 41E+08
	No. of sex partners in past 3 months	0–1	00110		· ·	•		
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	2–4	-0.53	0.77	-0 69	0 49	-2 04	0.98
		> 4	-34 77	6 64F+07	0.00	1 00	-1 30E+08	1 30E+08
	No of sexual encounters in past week	0	•	0.012 01	0.00			
		1–2	-0.18	0.25	-0 74	0.46	-0.66	0.30
		3–4	-0.23	0.36	-0.64	0.52	-0.93	0.00
		> 4	-0.49	0.65	-0.76	0.45	-1 76	0.78
tvc			0.10	0.00	011 0	01.10		0.1.0
	Education	No schooling						
		Primary schooling	-0.02	0.25	-0 10	0.92	-0.51	0.46
		Secondary schooling	0.30	0.28	1 06	0.29	-0.25	0.85
		Post-secondary schooling	0.24	0.42	0.57	0.57	-0.58	1.05
	Marital status	Single	0.21	0.12	0.07	0.01	0.00	1.00
	Marial status	Married or living with partner	0.87	0.75	1 17	0 24	-0 59	2.33
		Widowed, separated or divorced	0.47	5.17E+07	0	1	-1 01E+08	1.01E+08
	No of sex partners in past 3 months	0–1	0.47	0.112.01	Ū	•	1.012.00	1.012.00
		2–4	0 94	0.85	1 1 1	0 27	-0.73	2.61
		> 4	0.07	5.65E+07	0.00	1 00	-1 11E+08	1 11E+08
	No of sexual encounters in past week	0	0.01	0.002 01	0.00	1.00		1.112.00
		1–2	0.09	0.19	0.48	0.63	-0.28	0.47
		3-4	-0.06	0.26	-0.40	0.00	-0.56	0.44
		> 4	-0.00	0.70	1.66	0.00	-0.21	2.55
			1.17	Likelihood-ratio test	1.00	0.10	$I_{R} chi2(12)$	<u> </u>
							Proh > chi2	0.65

#### Table 12: Testing the assumptions of the Cox proportional hazards model: clinical events

Note: We used time-dependent covariates to test the proportional hazards assumption along sex, age, education level, marital status and sexual activity. Time-dependent covariates are interacted with the log(time) in tvc equation.

Source: Authors' construction using the data from the original authors.

Blank cells denote the reference group for the categorial variable considered and automatically excluded from the regression by Stata®.

Compos	site events							
		_t	Coefficient	Standard error	Z	P > z	[95% CI]	
main								
	Education	No schooling		a (a				
		Primary schooling	0.40	0.43	0.94	0.35	-0.44	1.23
		Secondary schooling	0.44	0.44	1.00	0.32	-0.42	1.30
		Post-secondary schooling	-0.31	0.63	-0.50	0.62	-1.54	0.91
	Marital status	Single						
		Married or living with partner	0.24	0.77	0.32	0.75	-1.26	1.75
		Widowed, separated or divorced	-33.23	3.22E+07	0	1	-6.32E+07	6.32E+07
	No. of sex partners in past 3 months	0–1						
		2–4	-1.68	1.28	-1.31	0.19	-4.20	0.84
		> 4	0.44	2.14	0.20	0.84	-3.76	4.63
	No. of sexual encounters in past week	0						
		1–2	0.02	0.26	0.08	0.93	-0.48	0.52
		3–4	-0.06	0.33	-0.19	0.85	-0.72	0.59
		> 4	0.28	0.42	0.68	0.50	-0.54	1.11
tvc								
	Education	No schooling						
		Primary schooling	0.31	0.36	0.88	0.38	-0.39	1.01
		Secondary schooling	070	0.39	1 79	0.07	-0.06	146
		Post-secondary schooling	0.48	0.56	0.86	0.39	-0.61	1.57
	Marital status	Single	0110	0100	0.00	0.00	0.01	
	Markarotatuo	Married or living with partner	0.25	0.60	0.41	0.68	-0.93	1 4 3
		Widowed separated or divorced	-0.11	2/0E+07	0.41	1	-0.00 -1 80E+07	1.40 1.80E+07
	No of sex partners in past 3 months	0–1	-0.11	2.452.07	0	'	-4.002.007	4.002.007
		2–4	2 10	1.36	1 54	0.12	-0.57	4 78
		> 4	2.10	2.78	0.75	0.12	-3.36	7.50
	No. of soxual opequators in past wook	0	2.00	2.70	0.75	0.45	-0.00	1.52
	No. of sexual encounters in past week	1–2	0.21	0.24	0.87	0.38	-0.26	0.60
		3–4	0.21	0.24	0.07	0.00	-0.20	0.63
		> 4	0.01	0.31	0.05	0.90	-0.00	1.00
		с т.	0.25	U.43	0.58	0.00	-0.59	1.Uð
				Likelinood-ratio test			LR Chi2 (10)	10.77
							Prob > chi2	0.38

#### Table 13: Testing the assumptions of the Cox proportional hazards model: composite events

Note: We used time-dependent covariates to test the proportional hazards assumption along sex, age, education level, marital status and sexual activity. Time-dependent covariates are interacted with the log(time) in tvc equation.

Source: Authors' construction using the data from the original authors.

Blank cells denote the reference group for the categorial variable considered and automatically excluded from the regression by Stata®.

#### 3.6 Understanding how the intervention works

ART is effective in treating HIV-1 infection only when there is a significant reduction of viral load. Thus, early initiation of ART could be effective in reducing the likelihood of HIV-1 transmission due to a reduced viral load. The original authors did not explicitly test whether, over time, the viral load is significantly lower in the early therapy group compared with the delayed therapy group. This is an important outcome to measure for future studies.

Furthermore, the reduction of viral load requires a high level of adherence to ART. Good adherence to ART is a strong predictor of positive health and treatment outcomes for HIV-infected patients (Ross-Degnan et al. 2010). In our replication, we planned to assess whether the effect of early initiation of ART on rates of sexual transmission of HIV-1 varies by the level of adherence to ART. However, we were not able to conduct this analysis as the original authors declined to provide us with data of the level of adherence to ART. The main reason cited by the original authors is that they see nothing to replicate.<sup>9</sup>

# 4. Discussion and conclusion

#### 4.1 Discussion

The results of this replication study have several important implications. The pure replication suggests that Figure 2 in the original paper may have been produced with a different dataset from the one provided to us. The research team gave instructions on how to deal with the missing data that caused the discrepancies during replication (duration values for 57 HIV-1-uninfected participants and 9 HIV-1-infected participants); however, these instructions did not solve the problem.

This is a major difference that requires further investigation from the original authors. If this error is confirmed by the original authors, an 'errata' should be submitted to the *New England Journal of Medicine*. Other than this major difference in Figure 2 of the original paper, in general the main results reported in the original paper do not suffer from any errors that might come from different sources, such as construction of variables, data cleaning and codes used to obtain findings.

Thus, other than for Figure 2, we can confirm that the data and methods described by Cohen and colleagues (2011) are those used to produce the main findings reported in the original paper.

In the MEA, we separated the total group into two subgroups, one with the participants from African nations only and another with the participants from non-African nations only. Our results from the subgroup of participants from African nations only show that early initiation of ART is effective, as compared with delayed therapy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> In order to supplement this analysis because of the lack of data on ART adherence, and to learn about the pathway from intervention to impact, we wished to test whether the early initiation of ART led to a change in CD4 levels and viral loads. However, the original authors only provided the baseline data on CD4 levels and viral loads. We were not able to access the endline data for these two variables to assess any changes due to the early initiation of ART.

The effect size is similar to what was found in the original paper. This shows that in regions such as Sub-Saharan Africa with a high average viral load level prior to ART initiation, early initiation is still very effective in reducing HIV-1 transmission. When we consider only the participants from non-African nations, we find no statistically significant impact of early initiation of ART on reduction in HIV-1 transmission, which we attribute to a lack of statistical power due to reduced sample size.

Furthermore, we clustered standard errors by site to consider the possibility of lack of independence within sites. This resulted in standard errors with narrowed confidence intervals, therefore increasing the significance level of the estimates. This result indicates that there could be a very low degree of intra-group correlation.

We were unable to control for male circumcision because the original authors declined to provide us with the data on male circumcision, citing that these data suffer from measurement error. This is unfortunate for this replication, because public health programming has been expanded through eastern and southern Africa to introduce medical male circumcision. Controlling for this could have an impact on the efficacy of early initiation of ART.

In addition, the original authors declined to provide the data on ART adherence, arguing that there was nothing to replicate. This data would have helped us to assess the level of ART adherence needed to see an impact from early initiation of ART.

Finally, we assessed the Cox proportional hazards assumption. We found that the Cox proportional hazards assumption is met for all outcomes and covariates used in the analyses. Thus, the results found in the original paper and in our replication are valid and do not suffer from the violation of the Cox proportional hazards assumption.

#### 4.2 Conclusion

In this paper, we presented a replication study of *Prevention of HIV-1 infection with early antiretroviral therapy* (Cohen et al. 2011), using the data provided to us by the original authors. We first conducted a pure replication, using the same epidemiological methods as the original authors. In general – except for Figure 2 in the original paper, where we found a major difference with our replication – the pure replication confirmed the main findings of the original paper.

Second, in the measurement and estimation analysis, we conducted several subgroup analyses and robustness checks. In the subgroup analysis on participants from African nations, we found that early initiation of ART still reduced rates of sexual transmission of HIV-1 and clinical events when considering the participants from African nations only. However, due to the lack of statistical power given the reduced sample size, there are no conclusive results for the subgroup of participants from non-African nations only.

When clustering the standard errors by site, we found the same effect size for hazard ratios for multiple outcomes. This improved the statistical significance of the results given the narrower confidence intervals. We were not able to control for male circumcision or study the relationship between ART adherence and early ART initiation because the original authors declined to share the relevant data. Finally, we assessed the Cox proportional hazards assumption using two methods: examining time-dependent

covariates and using Schoenfeld residuals. We found that the Cox proportional hazards assumption was met.

The results of this replication confirm the analysis in the original HPTN052 study and in the recent follow-up study (Cohen et al. 2016) to show positive impacts of early initiation of ART in dramatically reducing HIV-1 transmission among serodiscordant couples. Furthermore, an additional study entitled *Partners of people on ART – a new evaluation of the risks (PARTNER)* showed that viral suppression (< 200 copies per millilitre) prevented sexual transmission of HIV (Rodger et al. 2016).

With the evidence confirmed through this replication, we find that early initiation of ART can be an effective strategy in reducing HIV-1 transmission among serodiscordant couples in clinical trials at a small scale. Four studies over the last seven to eight years have examined whether this efficacy can be observed at the population level or at a larger level.

Generally, early universal HIV testing and treatment has not resulted in a significantly lower incidence of HIV infection compared with standard care, mainly due to poor linkage in care. Thus, future research around the early initiation of ART should focus on how to improve the linkage to care for HIV-1-infected patients – from barriers at the individual level right up to the health systems level. This research will inform future programmatic design aiming to achieve a reduction of HIV transmission at the population level through early initiation of ART.

## References

Abu-Raddad, LJ, Barnabas, RV, Janes, H, Weiss, HA, Kublin, JG, Longini, IMJ, Wasserheit, JN and HIV Viral Load Working Group, 2013. Have the explosive HIV epidemics in Sub-Saharan Africa been driven by higher community viral load? *AIDS*, 27(6), pp.981–89. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD.0b013e32835cb927

Amanyire, G, Semitala, FC, Namusobya, J, Katuramu, R, Kampiire, L, Wallenta, J, Charlebois, E, Camlin, C, Kahn, J, Chang, W, Glidden, D, Kamya, M, Havlir, D and Geng, E, 2016. Effects of a multicomponent intervention to streamline initiation of antiretroviral therapy in Africa: a stepped-wedge cluster-randomised trial. *The Lancet HIV*, 3(11), pp.e539–48. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-3018(16)30090-X

Auvert, B, Taljaard, D, Lagarde, E, Sobngwi-Tambekou, J, Sitta, R and Puren, A, 2005. Randomized, controlled intervention trial of male circumcision for reduction of HIV infection risk: the ANRS 1265 trial. *PLoS Medicine*, 2(11), p.e298. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.0020298

Bailey, RC, Moses, S, Parker, CB, Agot, K, Maclean, I, Krieger, JN, Williams, CFM, Campbell, RT and Ndinya-Achola, JO, 2007. Male circumcision for HIV prevention in young men in Kisumu, Kenya: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet*, 369(9562), pp.643–656. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(07)60312-2

Cohen, MS, Chen, YQ, McCauley, M, Gamble, T, Hosseinipour, MC, Kumarasamy, N et al., 2011. Prevention of HIV-1 infection with early antiretroviral therapy. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 365(6), pp.493–505. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1105243

Cohen, MS, Chen, YQ, McCauley, M, Gamble, T, Hosseinipour, MC, Kumarasamy, N et al., 2016. Antiretroviral therapy for the prevention of HIV-1 transmission. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 375(9), pp.830–839. Available at: doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1600693

Gray, RH, Kigozi, G, Serwadda, D, Makumbi, F, Watya, S, Nalugoda, F, Kiwanuka, N, Moulton, LH, Chaudhary, MA, Chen, MZ, Sewankambo, NK, Wabwire-Mangen, F, Bacon, MC, Williams, CFM, Opendi, P, Reynolds, SJ, Laeyendecker, O, C Quinn, TC and Wawer, MJ, 2007. Male circumcision for HIV prevention in men in Rakai, Uganda: a randomised trial. *The Lancet*, 369(9562), pp.657–666. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(07)60313-4

Hayes, R, Floyd, S, Schaap, A, Shanaube, K, Bock, P, Sabapathy, K, Griffith, S, Donnell, D, Piwowar-Manning, E, El-Sadr, W, Beyers, N, Ayles, H and Fidler, S, 2017. A universal testing and treatment intervention to improve HIV control: one-year results from intervention communities in Zambia in the HPTN 071 (PopART) cluster-randomised trial. *PLOS Medicine*, 14(5), p.e1002292. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002292

INSIGHT START Study Group, 2015. Initiation of antiretroviral therapy in early asymptomatic HIV infection. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 373(9), pp.795–807. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1506816

Iwuji, CC, Orne-Gliemann, J, Larmarange, J, Balestre, E, Thiebaut, R, Tanser, F, Okesola, N, Makowa, T, Dreyer, J, Herbst, K, McGrath, N, Bärnighausen, T, Boyer, S, De Oliveira, T, Rekacewicz, C, Bazin, B, Newell, M-L, Pillay, D and Dabis, F, 2018. Universal test and treat and the HIV epidemic in rural South Africa: a phase 4, open-label, community cluster randomised trial. *The Lancet HIV*, 5(3), pp.e116–25. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-3018(17)30205-9

Kaplan, EL and Meier, P, 1958. Nonparametric estimation from incomplete observations. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 53(282), pp.457–81.

Kloek, T, 1981. OLS estimation in a model where a microvariable is explained by aggregates and contemporaneous disturbances are equicorrelated. *Econometrica*, 49(1), pp.205–207.

Lin, DY, Wei, LJ and Ying, Z, 1993. Checking the Cox model with cumulative sums of martingale-based residuals. *Biometrika*, 80(3), pp.557–72. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/biomet/80.3.557

Moulton, B, 1986. Random group effects and the precision of regression estimates. *Journal of Econometrics*, 32(3), pp.385–97.

Naidu, K, Mori, R and Newell, ML, 2012. *A systematic review of the effects of interrupted antiretroviral interventions for prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV on maternal disease progression and survival.* Paper for the SA HIV Clinicians Society Conference, 28 November. Available at:

<http://www.saHIVsoc.org/Files/Kevindra%20Naidu%20-

%20Systematic%20review%20of%20the%20effect%20of%20interrupted%20PMTCT%2 0(28%20Nov,%2010h30).pdf> [Accessed 13 April 2020].

Rodger, AJ, Cambiano, V, Bruun, T, Vernazza, P, Collins, S, van Lunzen, J, et al., 2016. Sexual activity without condoms and risk of HIV transmission in serodifferent couples when the HIV-positive partner is using suppressive antiretroviral therapy. *JAMA*, 316(2), pp.171–81. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.5148

Ross-Degnan, D, Pierre-Jacques, M, Zhang, F, Tadeg, H, Gitau, L, Ntaganira, J, Balikuddembe, R, Chalker, J, Wagner, AK and INRUD IAA, 2010. Measuring adherence to antiretroviral treatment in resource-poor settings: the clinical validity of key indicators. *BMC Health Services Research*, 10(1), p.42.

Schoenfeld, D, 1982. Partial residuals for the proportional hazards regression model. *Biometrika*, 69(1), pp.239–41.

Severe, P, Juste, MAJ, Ambroise, A, Eliacin, L, Marchand, C, Apollon, S, Edwards, A, Bang, H, Nicotera, J, Godfrey, C, Gulick, RM, Johnson, WD, Pape, JW and Fitzgerald, DW, 2010. Early versus standard antiretroviral therapy for HIV-infected adults in Haiti. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 363(3), pp.257–65. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0910370

TEMPRANO ANRS Study Group, 2015. A trial of early antiretrovirals and isoniazid preventive therapy in Africa. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 373(9), pp.808–22. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1507198

World Health Organization (WHO) and Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), 2007. New data on male circumcision and HIV prevention: policy and programme implications. WHO/UNAIDS Technical Consultation, 28 March. Available at: <<u>http://data.unaids.org/pub/report/2007/mc\_recommendations\_en.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 May 2020].

### Other publications in the 3ie Replication Paper Series

The following papers are available from http://3ieimpact.org/evidencehub/publications/replication-papers

*Biometric Smartcards and payment disbursement: a replication study of a state capacitybuilding experiment in India*, 3ie Replication Paper 23. Atanda, AA 2018.

*Risk sharing and transaction costs: a replication study of evidence from Kenya's mobile money revolution*, 3ie Replication Paper 22. Alinaghi, N, 2018.

*Cash and change: a replication study of a cash transfer experiment in Malawi*, 3ie Replication Paper 21. Reimão, ME, 2018.

*Impact of unconditional cash transfers: a replication study of the short-term effects in Kenya.* 3ie Replication Paper 20. Wang, H, Qui, Fang, Q and Luo, J, 2018.

Mobile money and its impact on improving living conditions in Niger: a replication study. 3ie Replication Paper 19. Meneses, JP, Ventura, E, Elorreaga, O, Huaroto, C, Aguilar, G, and Beteta, E, 2018.

*Savings revisited: a replication study of a savings intervention in Malawi,* 3ie Replication Paper 18. Stage, J and Thangavelu, T 2018.

*Thou shalt be given…but how? A replication study of a randomized experiment on food assistance in northern Ecuador*, 3ie Replication Paper 17. Lhachimi, SK and Seuring, T, 2018.

*Preventing HIV and HSV-2 through improving knowledge and attitudes: a replication study of a multicomponent intervention in Zimbabwe.* 3ie Replication Paper 16. Hein, NA, Bagenda, DS and Yu, F, 2018.

*PEPFAR and adult mortality: a replication study of HIV development assistance effects in Sub-Saharan African countries.* 3ie Replication Paper 15. Hein, NA, Bagenda, DS and Luo, J, 2018.

When to start ART? A replication study of timing of antiretroviral therapy for HIV-1associated Tuberculosis. 3ie Replication Paper 14. Djimeu, EW, 2018.

STRETCHing HIV treatment: a replication study of task shifting in South Africa. 3ie Replication Paper 13. Chen, B and Alam, M, 2017.

*Cash transfers and HIV/HSV-2 prevalence: a replication of a cluster randomized trial in Malawi.* 3ie Replication Paper 12. Smith, LM, Hein, NA and Bagenda, DS, 2017.

*Power to the people?: a replication study of a community-based monitoring programme in Uganda,* 3ie Replication Paper 11. Donato, K and Garcia Mosqueira, A, 2016.

*Fighting corruption does improve schooling: a replication study of a newspaper campaign in Uganda,* 3ie Replication Paper 10. Kuecken, M, and Valfort, MA, 2016.

*The effects of land titling on the urban poor: a replication of property rights,* 3ie Replication Paper 9. Cameron, Drew B, Whitney, Edward M and Winters, Paul C, 2015.

*Male circumcision and HIV acquisition reinvestigating the evidence from young men in Kisumu, Kenya*, 3ie Replication Paper 8. Djimeu, EW, Korte, JE and Calvo, FA, 2015.

*Walking on solid ground: a replication study on Piso Firme's impact,* 3ie Replication Paper 7. Basurto, MP, Burga, R, Toro, JLF and Huaroto, C, 2015.

*The impact of India's JSY conditional cash transfer programme: A replication study,* 3ie Replication Paper 6. Carvalho, N and Rokicki, S, 2015.

*Recalling extra data: A replication study of finding missing markets*, 3ie Replication Paper 5. Wood, BDK and Dong, M, 2015.

*The long and short of returns to public investments in fifteen Ethiopian villages*, 3ie Replication Paper 4. Bowser, WH, 2015.

*Reanalysis of health and educational impacts of a school-based deworming program in western Kenya Part 2: Alternative analyses,* 3ie Replication Paper 3, part 2. Aiken, AM, Davey, C, Hayes, RJ and Hargreaves, JR, 2014.

Reanalysis of health and educational impacts of a school-based deworming program in western Kenya Part 1: A pure replication, 3ie Replication Paper 3, part 1. Aiken, AM, Davey, C, Hargreaves, JR and Hayes, RJ, 2014.

*TV, female empowerment and demographic change in rural India,* 3ie Replication Paper 2. lversen, V and Palmer-Jones, R, 2014.

*Quality evidence for policymaking: I'll believe it when I see the replication,* 3ie Replication Paper 1. Brown, AN, Cameron, DB and Wood, BDK, 2014.

#### **Replication Paper Series**

International Initiative for Impact Evaluation 1020 19th Street, NW Suite 400 Washington, DC 20036 USA replication@3ieimpact.org

Tel: +1 202 629 3939



www.3ieimpact.org